DEMETER CORPORATION PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES                       

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2018

1. General information
1.1
General information of the company
Demeter Corporation Public Company Limited (“the Company”) is a public limited company, incorporated in Thailand and is registered on the Stock Exchange of Thailand. The address of its registered office is 191/43 CTI Tower 21st Floor, Ratchadapisek Road, Klongtoey Subdistrict, Klongtoey District, Bangkok. 

The principal business operations of the Company are providing, production and/or joint production of television satellite programmes and being the broker.
1.2
Accounting assumptions
The company Group has a large number of losses for many years. In 2018, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the separate statement of comprehensive income presented the loss for the year in the amount of Baht 418.82 million and Baht 486.44 million, respectively. Total cash flow statement and separate cash flow statement showing net cash flows used in operating activities of Baht 70.35 million and Baht 60.12 million respectively. The consolidated statements of financial position and statement of financial position as of December 31, 2018, the cumulative loss of Baht 1,686.09 million and Baht 1,683.10 million, respectively, resulted in significant doubts about the Group's ability to continue its operations. However, the Group believes that the Group will be able to continue its business. Since the Group has assessed the financial status and financial planning management for the next 12 months from the end of the accounting period ending December 31, 2018 by planning the cash flow projection and planning to manage the financing sources as follows:
1. The company has a plan to call for repayment of loans and accrued interest from subsidiaries to be used as working capital.
2. The company sells assets in subsidiaries.

3. The company has a business plan in the form of organizing concerts. To bring profits to be used as working capital.

4. The subsidiary operates the business of processing, manufacturing and selling hinoki wood products.
As a result of these reasons, the financial statements are still prepared under the assumption of continued operation of the business.
2. Basis for preparation of the consolidated financial statements
2.1
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Demeter Corporation Public Company Limited and subsidiaries as follows:
	
	
	
	Percentage of holding by
	

	Subsidiaries
	Type of business
	Location
	December 31, 2018
	
	December 31, 2017
	

	Direct - Subsidiary :
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Demeter Innovation Company Limited 
	providing, production and/or joint production of television satellite programmes
	Bangkok
	100.00
	
	100.00
	

	Demeter Power Company Limited
	Energy
	Bangkok
	99.99
	
	99.99
	

	Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited *
	Production and distribution of electricity
	Suphanburi
	33.64
	**
	33.64
	*

	Indirect - Subsidiary :
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Hinoki Wood Work Company Limited (Held by Demeter Innovation Company Limited ) (Note. 12.2)
	Produce and sell wooden products or with wood components
	Phathum Thani
	100.00
	
	-
	

	Associated :
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Hero Experience Co., Ltd.
	Water Park, Amusement Park, Recreation
	
	37.50
	
	37.50
	

	Associated held by a subsidiary :
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Blue Finix Digital Company 
Limited ***
	Application service through internet
	
	30.03
	
	30.03
	


*
The Company has prepared for the consolidated financial statement by included such subsidiaries although holding percentage less than 50%, but due to the Company has the control in such company.
**
The Company has lost all control of the company on May 25, 2018. Therefore, as of May 25, 2018 the Company did not include the financial statements of the stated company for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. These investments are classified as general investments, shown in long-term investments (Note 13).
***
The company registered the dissolution with the Department of Business Development on December 19, 2018, which is in the process of liquidationed and paying back the capital to the company.
2.2
These consolidated financial statements are prepared by including the financial statements of its subsidiaries under control by the Demeter Corporation Public Company Limited after eliminating significant balance and inter-company transactions.
3. Basis of preparation of the financial statements and significant accounting policies
3.1
Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Thai generally accepted accounting principles under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543, being those Thai Financial Reporting Standards issued under the Accounting Profession Act B.E. 2547, and the financial reporting requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities and Exchange Act.
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Thai generally accepted accounting principles requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
An English version of the financial statements have been prepared from the statutory financial statements that are in the Thai language. In the event of a conflict or a difference in interpretation between the two languages, the Thai language statutory financial statements shall prevail.
3.2
New financial reporting standards
3.2.1
Financial reporting standards that became effective in the current year

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries have adopted the revised financial reporting standards and interpretations (revised 2017) and new accounting treatment guidance which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2018. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes and clarifications directed towards disclosures in the notes to financial statements. The adoption of these financial reporting standards does not have any significant impact on the Company and its subsidiaries’ financial statements.
3.2.2
Financial reporting standards that will become effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2019
During the current year, the Federation of Accounting Professions issued a number of revised and new financial reporting standards and interpretations (revised 2018) including new accounting treatment guidance, which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2019. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance for users of the standards.
The management of the Company and its subsidiaries believe that most of the revised financial reporting standards will not have any significant impact on the financial statements when they are initially applied. However, the new standard involves changes to key principles, as summarised below.
TFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

TFRS 15 supersedes the following accounting standards together with related Interpretations.
	TAS 11 (revised 2017)
	Construction contracts

	TAS 18 (revised 2017)
	Revenue

	TSIC 31 (revised 2017)
	Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services

	TFRIC 13 (revised 2017)
	Customer Loyalty Programmes

	TFRIC 15 (revised 2017)
	Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

	TFRIC 18 (revised 2017)
	Transfers of Assets from Customers


Entities are to apply this standard to all contracts with customers unless those contracts fall within the scope of other standards. The standard establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers, with revenue being recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The standard requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances when applying each step of the model.
The management of the Company and its subsidiaries believe that this standard will not have any significant impact on the financial statements when it is initially applied.
3.2.3
Financial reporting standards that will become effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2020
During the current year, the Federation of Accounting Professions issued the set of TFRSs related to financial instruments consists of five accounting standards and interpretations, as follows:
	Financial reporting standards:

	TFRS 7
	  Financial Instruments: Disclosures

	TFRS 9
	  Financial Instruments

	Accounting standard:

	TAS 32
	  Financial Instruments: Presentation

	Financial Reporting Standard Interpretations:

	TFRIC 16
	Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

	TFRIC 19
	Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments


These TFRSs related to financial instruments make stipulations relating to the classification of financial instruments and their measurement at fair value or amortised cost (taking into account the type of instrument, the characteristics of the contractual cash flows and the Company’s business model), calculation of impairment using the expected credit loss method, and hedge accounting. These include stipulations regarding the presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. When the TFRSs related to financial instruments are effective, some accounting standards, interpretations and guidance which are currently effective will be cancelled.   

The management of the Company and its subsidiaries is currently evaluating the impact of these standards to the financial statements in the year when they are adopted.

3.3
Significant accounting policies

Significant accounting policies of the Company are as follows:
3.3.1 Recognition of revenues and expenses
Income from television programme co-production is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

Sales are recognised upon delivery of products and customer acceptance.

Other income and expenses is recognised on an accrual basis.

Cost of programme co-production is recognized follow No. 3.3.8.
3.3.2 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and deposits at banks with an original maturity of three months or less and not subject to withdrawal restrictions.

3.3.3 Inventory
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The cost calculation are detailed as follows :
- Inventory record the total average cost 
- Work In Process record at cost
- Raw materials and Supplies at cost(FIFO)
3.3.4 Trade accounts receivable
Trade accounts receivable are carried at anticipated realisable value. An allowance is recorded for doubtful accounts receivable, which is equivalent to the estimated collection losses that may be incurred.  The estimated losses are based on historical collection experience combined with a review of the current status of the existing accounts receivable at the balance sheet date. Bad debts are written-off during the year in which they are identified.
3.3.5 Hire-purchase contract receivables
Hire-purchase contract receivables are stated at initial value noted in the financed lease agreement less cash received from installment, unearned interest income, and allowance for doubtful account.
Allowance for doubtful account is evaluated based on analysis of repayment historical records and forecast for future repayment of each account receivable. Allowance for doubtful account is calculated on the percentages of overdue payment as follow:
	
	
	Percentages

	Overdue :
	

	3 - 6 months
	25

	6 - 9 months
	35

	9 - 12 months
	50

	Over 12 months
	100


3.3.6 Investments
Investments in associates in the consolidated financial statements are recorded by using the equity method.

Investments in subsidiaries in the separate financial statements are recorded by using the cost method less provision for impairment. The devaluations are recorded as loss from devaluation of investments in the statement of comprehensive income.

General investments in the statement of financial position is recorded by using the cost method less provision for impairment. The devaluations are recorded as loss from devaluation of investments in the statement of comprehensive income.
3.3.7 Property, plants and equipment - net
Land is stated at cost. Building and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision      (if any).

Property, plant and equipment of subsidiary “Demeter Innovation Company Limited” (Formerly name “Demeter Media Company Limited”) in preparing the consolidated financial statements are stated at fair value since the fair value of identifiable assets are appraised for investments.

Depreciation calculated on a straight-line basis to reduce the carrying amount over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

            Years

Building and building improvements
20
Furniture fixture and office equipment
5
Vehicles
5
Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, the cost is written down immediately to its recoverable amount.  Estimated recoverable amount is calculated from the anticipated discounted cash flows to their present value from the continuing use of the assets and the amount obtainable from the sale of the assets less any costs of disposal whichever is higher.

Gains and losses on disposal of assets are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are taken into account in determining operation profit.

Expenditures for expansion, renewal and betterment, which result in substantial increase in an asset’s current replacement value, are capitalised.  Repair and maintenance costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

3.3.8 Intangible asset
Intangible asset represented the right to manage the satellite television channels for 10 year period, and the rights of broadcasting and broadcast sounds in movies for three year period. The Company amortised intangible asset as expense by using the straight line method over the contractual period. And recorded as “Cost of programme           co-production” on statement of comprehensive income.
3.3.9 Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary undertaking at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiary is separately reported in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Recognized goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of a subsidiary include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash generating units or group of cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.
3.3.10 Non-current assets held for sales
Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of the carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.

3.3.11 Impairment of assets
The Company assess at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Company makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the income statement. (An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use).

If there is subsequently any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exits or may have decreased, the Company will make another estimate of the asset’s recoverable value, compare this with the book value, and reverse previously recognised impairment to reflect the change in recoverable value.

3.3.12 Income tax
Income tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax.  Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Company takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group/Company believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about future events. New information may become available that causes the Company to change its judgment regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
3.3.13 Accounting for leases - where the company is the leases
Leases of assets under which all the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.  Payments made under operating leases are charged to the statements of income on a straight-line basis over the lease periods.

The  Company recorded the leased  assets  under  financial  lease agreement / hire purchase agreement as assets  and liabilities in an amount equal to the fair value  at the leased  assets or the  present value  of minimum payments under agreement. Interest expenses are recorded on over the term of agreement.

3.3.14 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages, bonuses and contributions to the social security fund are recognised as expenses when incurred.
Post-employment benefits

Defined contribution plans

The Company, its subsidiaries and its employees have jointly established a provident fund. The fund is monthly contributed by employees and by the Company and its subsidiaries. The fund’s assets are held in a separate trust fund and the Company and its subsidiaries’ contributions are recognised as expenses when incurred.
Defined benefit plans

The Company and its subsidiaries have obligations in respect of the severance payments it must make to employees upon retirement under labor law. The treat these severance payment obligations as a defined benefit plan.
The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined by a professionally qualified independent actuary based on actuarial techniques, using the projected unit credit method.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from post-employment benefits are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income.

3.3.15 Provisions for liabilities and charges
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
3.3.16 Related party transactions
Enterprises and individuals that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by, or are under common control with, the Company, including holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries are related parties of the Company.  Associates and individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Company that gives them significant influence over the enterprise, key management personnel, including directors and officers of the Company and close members of the family of these individuals and companies associated with these individuals also constitute related parties.

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form.

3.3.17 Basic earings (loss) per share
Basic earnings (loss) per share calculated by dividing net income (loss) for the year attributable to the ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

3.3.18 Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between buyer and seller (market participants) at the measurement date. The Company and its subsidiaries apply      a quoted market price in an active market to measure their assets and liabilities that are required to be measured      at fair value by relevant financial reporting standards. Except in case of no active market of an identical asset          or liability or when a quoted market price is not available, the Company and its subsidiaries measure fair value using valuation technique that are appropriate in the circumstances and maximises the use of relevant observable inputs related to assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy into three levels based on categorise of input to be used in fair value measurement as follows:
Level 1 - 
Use of quoted market prices in an observable active market for such assets or liabilities 

Level 2 - 
Use of other observable inputs for such assets or liabilities, whether directly or indirectly

Level 3 - 
Use of unobservable inputs such as estimates of future cash flows
At the end of each reporting period, the Company and its subsidiaries determine whether transfers have occurred between levels within the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities held at the end of the reporting period that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

4. Significant accounting judgments and estimates, and capital risk management
Use of accounting estimates 

Preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates for certain accounting transactions, affecting amounts reported in the financial statements and notes related thereto.  Subsequent actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates, assumption and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Finance Lease

Leases of assets that substantially transfer to the Company all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets and that the Company intends to exercise the option of the leases to purchase the assets at the expiration of the lease term, are accounted for as finance leases.
At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the asset is recorded together with the obligation to pay future rent, excluding the interest element. Finance charges are recorded to the current period operations by the effective interest rate basis.
Operating leases
The Company has entered into lease agreements for the office rental and equipment.  The Company has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that the lessor retains all the significant risk and rewards of ownership of these properties, and so accounts for the contracts as operating leases. 
Allowance for doubtful accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts to reflect impairment of trade receivables relating to estimated losses resulting from the default or inability of customers to make required payments.  The allowance is based on consideration of historical collection experience, known and identified instances of default of each customer.

Building and equipment 
Management determines the estimated useful lives and residual values for the Company’s equipment.  Management will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual values are different to previously estimated, or it will write off or write down technically obsolete or assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are systematically amortized over their estimated useful lives, and are subject to impairment if there is an indication they may be impaired.
Capital risk management
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
5. Transactions with related parties
The Company has several accounting transactions with below related parties, which have the same group of shareholders or directors. Some of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses transactions incur from those related parties.
	Companies
	Relationship

	Demeter Innovation Company Limited 
	Subsidiary

	Demeter Power Company Limited
	Subsidiary

	Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited *
	Related company (Jointly held)

	Hero Experience Co., Ltd.
	Associate (held by 37.5 percent)

	Blue Finix Digital Company Limited
	Associate (held by a subsidiary 30.03 percent)

	GCT Media Co., Ltd. **
	Co-director

	Hinoki Wood Work Company Limited
	Associate (held by indirect - subsidiary and 
Co-director

	Glory Interior Company Limited
	Director who are close relatives with Hinoki Wood Work co.,ltd.Director


*
Since May 25, 2018, the Company changed its status for Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited from being a subsidiary, to a related company. As a result, the Company’s representatives as directors have had their positions been terminated and therefore no longer have any significant influence.
**
Since October 12, 2017, the relevant directors have resigned from the Board of Directors and have ended their relevance from that date.
The pricing policies for particular types of transactions are explained further below:
	Transactions
	
	Pricing policies

	Income from programme co-production
	
	Contract price

	Income from rental and services
	
	Contract price

	Cost of programme co-production
	
	Contract price

	Rental and service expenses 
	
	Contract price

	Management benefit expenses
	
	Consisted of:- allowance for meeting and the remuneration of directors as approved by the directors and shareholder’s meeting

	Consultant Fee
	
	Contract price


5.1
Accounting transactions with related parties

Revenue and cost in statements of comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Interest income
	
	
	
	

	Demeter Innovation Company Limited
	-
	-
	829,786
	1,204,947

	Demeter Power Company Limited
	-
	-
	-
	164

	Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited
	-
	-
	12,917
	7,968

	
	-
	-
	842,703
	1,213,079

	
	
	
	
	

	Management benefit expenses
	
	
	
	

	Benefits for directors and managements
	18,680,551
	24,063,543
	18,680,551
	21,899,948

	
	
	
	
	

	Consultant Fee
	573,000
	1,530,667
	573,000
	1,530,667


5.2
Outstanding balances in statements of financial position
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Short-term loans and interest receivable 
	
	
	
	

	Demeter Innovation Company Limited
	-
	-
	75,199,786
	74,370,000

	Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited
	470,885
	-
	470,885
	307,968

	
	-
	-
	75,670,671
	74,677,968

	Less allowance for doubtful accounts
	(470,885)
	-
	(66,761,544)
	-

	Total
	-
	-
	8,909,127
	74,677,968


Allowance for doubtful accounts short-term loans have changed during the periods as follows:
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Beginning balance
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Increase 
	470,885
	-
	66,761,544
	-

	Ending balance
	470,885
	-
	66,761,544
	-


For the year ended December 31, 2018, the movement of short-term loans and interest receivable is as follows:
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated

	
	January 1,

2018
	
	Increase
	
	Decrease
	
	December 31,

2018

	Short-term loans and interest receivable
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Principal
	-
	
	450,000
	
	-
	
	450,000

	Interest receivable
	-
	
	20,885
	
	-
	
	20,885

	Total
	-
	
	470,885
	
	-
	
	470,885


Loans to related company charged interest at 2 - 7% per annum.
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Separate

	
	January 1,

2018
	
	Increase
	
	Decrease
	
	December 31,

2018

	Short-term loans and interest receivable
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Demeter Innovation Company Limited
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Principal
	74,370,000
	
	-
	
	-
	
	74,370,000

	Interest receivable
	-
	
	829,786
	
	-
	
	829,786

	Total
	74,370,000
	
	829,786
	
	-
	
	75,199,786

	Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Principal
	300,000
	
	150,000
	
	-
	
	450,000

	Interest receivable
	7,968
	
	12,917
	
	-
	
	20,885

	Total
	307,968
	
	162,917
	
	-
	
	470,885


Loans to subsidiary and related company charged interest at 2 - 7% per annum. 
6. Current investments
Current investments as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Open-end fund
	22,894,328
	183,693,929
	16,894,328
	174,311,932

	Add Allowance on revaluation of investments
	304,968
	467,198
	294,720
	307,606

	Open-end fund, net
	23,199,296
	184,161,127
	17,189,048
	174,619,538


7. Trade and other current receivables
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Trade accounts receivables
	
	
	
	

	Trade accounts receivables
	76,613,862
	94,905,958
	74,022,965
	91,078,579

	Less allowance for doubtful accounts
	(75,043,862)
	(91,749,572)
	(72,702,965)
	(89,284,993)

	Total trade accounts receivables
	1,570,000
	3,156,386
	1,320,000
	1,793,586

	Other current receivables
	
	
	
	

	Amounts due from a former related 
company - net (Note 7.1)
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Refundable value added tax
	56,664,043
	55,527,815
	55,659,954
	54,458,664

	Other receivables
	9,131,064
	5,109,782
	9,041,509
	5,053,404

	Less allowance for doubtful accounts
	(4,745,393)
	(3,362,801)
	(4,745,393)
	(3,362,801)

	Total other current receivables
	61,049,714
	57,274,796
	59,956,070
	56,149,267

	Total trade and other current receivables
	62,619,714
	60,431,182
	61,276,070
	57,942,853


Aging analysis for trade accounts receivable were as follows:
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Within credit terms
	250,000
	697,865
	-
	447,865

	Overdue:
	
	
	
	

	Over 12 months
	76,363,862
	94,208,093
	74,022,965
	90,630,714

	Total
	76,613,862
	94,905,958
	74,022,965
	91,078,579


Allowance for doubtful accounts have changed during the periods as follows:
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Beginning balance
	91,749,572
	92,713,089
	89,284,993
	90,180,089

	Increase (Decrease)
	(379,163)
	-
	(255,481)
	-

	Transfer (transfer out)
	(16,326,547)
	(963,517)
	(16,326,547)
	(895,096)

	Ending balance
	75,043,862
	91,749,572
	72,702,965
	89,284,993


As ended of February 26, 2019, the Company received the payment from accounts receivable as follow; Overdue, over 12 months received of Baht 51,153.84.
The Company has allowance for doubtful accounts from one of debtors amount of Baht 61.21 million. The trade receivable defaulted in return the sponsorship from the sport tournament, which the Company was the financial investor with amount of Baht 86.43 million according to the contract project of the golf tournament “Thailand Classic”. The Company has filed with the Civil Court on July 15, 2016 and entered into the negotiation process for two times but unsuccessful. Accordingly, the case is returned to the Court process. The Court have the verdict to the debtor repayment Baht 18,253,248.40 with the interest rate of 7.5 percent per annum on November 27, 2017. On January 26, 2018, the Company appealed against the judgment of the Civil Court. Which is on pending the judgment of the Court of Apeal. The court sentenced the Court of Appeals on January 30, 2019. On that day, the court postponed the reading of the verdict on February 28, 2019, since the decision has not yet been completed.

7.1 Amounts due from a former related company - net

	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Amounts due from a former related company 
 - Siam Dimension Stone Co., Ltd.
	
	
	
	

	Loans receivable
	70,738,314
	70,738,314
	70,738,314
	70,738,314

	Accrued service income
	2,806,000
	2,806,000
	2,806,000
	2,806,000

	Total
	73,544,314
	73,544,314
	73,544,314
	73,544,314

	Less allowance for doubtful accounts
	(73,544,314)
	(73,544,314)
	(73,544,314)
	(73,544,314)

	Amounts due from a former related company - net
	-
	-
	-
	-


The Company has filed a Civil Court against the receivable on October 15, 2012. And on December 17, 2012, the Civil Court judged that the customer as the defendant had to pay the debt as amount of Baht 73.54 million with the interest rate of 7.5 percent per annum. On December 11, 2015, the Company has filed to the Central Bankruptcy Court for the bankrupt. On March 7, 2016 the Central Bankruptcy Court has ordered to freeze assets of the debtor.Currently, it is in the process of collecting assets of the debtor, and there will be the meeting of creditors on August 23, 2017, postponed from date June 14, 2017. The Central Bankruptcy Court have the verdict to the debtor to be insolvency on September 13, 2017. The announcement was made on October 9, 2017.
November 30, 2017, was the date of the debtor’s hearing of evidence, however, the debtor’s authorized director did not showed up to court. The Central Bankruptcy Court issued an arrest warrant for the debtor’s authorized director and the court will then inform the creditor of the date of the hearing. However, the Company has seized old machinery owned by the debtor and is waiting for the auction announcement from the Enforcement Officer. In addition, there is also a factory building in which the documents are currently being reviewed in order to take any further action in seizing the property. Subsequently, the Enforcement Officer announced the auction of the confiscated machinery which was first auctioned on January 29, 2019 (no sales due to not being posted on the website of the Government Gazette), the second time on February 28, 2019, the third time on March 12, 2019 and the fourth on April 2, 2019.

8. Short-term loans
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Principal
	-
	10,000,000
	-
	-

	Accrued interest
	-
	756,164
	-
	-

	Short-term loans
	-
	10,756,164
	-
	-


For the year ended December 31, 2018, the movement of short-term loans and interest receivable is as follows:
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated

	
	January 1, 2018
	Increase
	Decrease
	December 31,

2018

	Short-term loans and interest receivable
	
	
	
	

	Principal
	10,000,000
	-
	(10,000,000)
	-

	Interest receivable
	756,164
	161,260
	(917,424)
	-

	
	10,756,164
	161,260
	(10,917,424)
	-


On June 28, 2017, a subsidiary entered into a loan agreement with a non-related company in total amount of Baht 10 million with an interest rate of 15 percent per annum for 7 months. The Company has repay the principal and interest on February 22, 2018.
9. Other current assets

	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separated

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Deposit
	1,227,486
	612,696
	1,227,486
	612,696


10. Deposits pledged as collateral
As of December 31, 2018, the Company has a fixed deposit of Baht 90 million, pledged as collateral for an associate loan (Note 11). According to the resolution of the Board of Director’s Meeting No. 6/2018 held on May 18, 2018.
11. Investments in associates

11.1
The movement of investments in associates for year ended December 31, 2018, is as follows:
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separated

	
	Equity method
	Cost method

	As at January 1, 2018 (Net)
	321,041,390
	324,999,632

	Purchase / Increase investment 
	445,500
	-

	Impairment of investment in associates
	(89,497,899)
	-

	Loss from investments in associates
	(107,783,688)
	(200,794,329)

	As at December 31, 2018
	124,205,303
	124,205,303


11.2
Details of investments in associates consist of:
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	Associate
	Nature of business
	Issued and paid-up (Baht)
	Investment (percentage)
	Consolidated
	Separated

	
	
	
	
	Equity method
	Cost method

	Hero Experience Co., Ltd.
	Water Park, Amusement         Park, Recreation
	268,421,200
	37.50
	124,205,303
	124,205,303

	Blue Finix Digital Company Limited
	Application service through internet
	16,350,000
	30.03
	-
	-

	Total
	
	
	
	124,205,303
	124,205,303


11.3
Significant financial information for associates

Financial information as shown in the financial statement, summarized:
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated

	Associate
	Issued and paid-up
As at December 
31, 2018
	Total assets
As at December 

31, 2018
	Total liabilities
As at December 

31, 2018
	Total revenue for
the year ended December 31, 2018
	Profit (loss) for
the year ended December 31, 2018

	Hero Experience Co., Ltd.
	268,421
	860,601
	529,387
	139,076
	(231,745)

	Blue Finix Digital Company Limited
	16,350
	14,758
	7,449
	1.27
	(10.66)


A.
On May 3, 2017, the Meeting of the Board of Directors No. 4/2017 resolved to approve the entry into the share purchase agreement between Demeter Media Company Limited (“DMedia”), and Thai Trade Communication Company Limited (“Thai Trade”) under which the parties agree on the terms and conditions in relation to the investment in the project of Blue Finix Digital Company Limited (“Blue Finix”) for development of the applications and websites for the internet transaction by means of acquisition of 28,600 ordinary shares in Blue Finix from Thai Trade, equivalent to 20 percent of the registered capital of Blue Finix at the price per share of up to Baht 1,726.22 and total purchase price of up to Baht 49,370,000 and subscription of newly issued shares of Blue Finix under which there will be the increase in the registered capital of Blue Finix from Baht 14,300,000 to Baht 16,350,000 by issuance of 20,500 ordinary shares at the par value of Baht 100. DMedia will purchase the New Shares at the subscription price of Baht 1,219.51 which is higher than the par value and at the total price of up to Baht 25,000,000. For the total amount of up to Baht 74,370,000.
On June 8, 2017, the portion of 28,600 ordinary shares equivalent to 20 percent has been transferred to DMedia, and on June 17, 2017, Blue Finix has issued and allocated 20,500 newly issued ordinary shares to DMedia, totaling ordinary shares equivalent to 30 percent. DMedia has made the payment for the purchase price required for such share transfer to Thai Trade in the total amount of Baht 49,370,000 and the subscription price for such newly issued ordinary shares to Blue Finix in the total amount of Baht 25,000,000.
In the consideration to invest in Blue Finix, the Board of Directors had analyzed the business feasibility of Online Live Streaming business which it viewed to have grown tremendously in the past few years. In 2016, the market value of the Online Live Streaming business was about Baht 3,400 million which is viewed as the strong point as compared to other competitors in the same business due to:
1.
Business cooperation from professional content providers which is superior to other competitors.
2. 
There were more than 350 social network celebrities contracted to broadcast their own programs on FINIX TV prior to the business launch and it was expected that these group of persons will help promote FINIX TV in the social network and attract users promptly upon the service launch.
3.
FINIX TV System is the system developed by the company, not a system purchased from overseas alike other competitors, which can be altered promptly and better understands consumers’ popularity in Thailand.
The company hired an independent valuer, The Valuation and Consultants Co., Ltd., which is an independent valuer approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), to appraise the value of Blue Finix. The appraisal result shows that Blue Finix has a value of Baht 719.57 million and the Company purchased 30 percent of the shares in Blue Finix at the price of Baht 74.37 million.
Notwithstanding, due to the fact that the competition in the Online Live Streaming business is very intense and, recently, there are new competitors entering the market, including the fact that Blue Finix cannot adapt itself towards the increased competition, the operating results of the company were not as expected.
After the Company’s investment in 30 percent of the business of Blue Finix, totaling Baht 74.37 million, the Company has already started to recognize income from June 2017. From the financial statement year 2017 of Blue Finix, that has earned Baht 11.18 million mainly from the sales of Gift to Angel on Duty and FINIX TV (currently, Angel on Duty and FINIX TV have consolidated their platforms). With respect to income from Social Portal Media Platform, such income has not arisen.
After Blue Finix’s success in August 2017, the official press conference was held and there were celebrities attended such press conference, e.g. Professor Kata Chinnabanchon, Seksan Sukpimai, Kon-bai-krai-kriad crew members and Miss Supranational. The Company has given support and helped with the coordination. Later, executives of Blue Finix saw the opportunity to be an alliance with Electronics Extreme Co., Ltd., an importer of online games, to jointly use resources to achieve the best business benefits, including the proposal of work expansion plan to the leading media business group in the Republic of Vietnam in October 2017.
Nevertheless, Blue Finix was not able to increase the number of customers to achieve the revenue targeted. The Company considered that such effect may result from the lack of strategic planning and marketing operational plan. Especially, there was a lack of budget allocation and prioritizing, which adversely affect the determination of budget allocation for each marketing tools. Moreover, the current economic circumstances have not positively encourage the operation as anticipated. Therefore, the Company proposed, in the Board of Directors’ meeting of Blue Finix on November 7, 2017, that the executive board of Blue Finix should prepare clear quarterly action plan, budget plan, and expenditure plan and propose the drafts to the Board of Directors of the Company for consideration within November 14, 2017. In this regard, the Company has not been received the plan. Nevertheless, in January 2018, the management of Blue Finix has proposed new business plan which is business oppretunities for Blue Finix as follows:
1. Business opportunity in Thailand, the business cooperation plan between Blue Finix and ONE HD channel which has content with a large number of followers, and its own application (“ONE HD Application”) which is OTT (Over-the-top) service. The ONE HD Application has been available in App Store for more than 2 years and has been downloaded by over 2 million people. Nevertheless, at present, it has managerial problems leading to the out of date application and the decrease of the usages. For this collaboration, Blue Finix shall be responsible for management of ONE HD Application to be in active status. ONE HD Application has the advantage from other applications because it has its own content which could be provided as VOD (Video on Demand).

The business plan has been separted to be two phrases: (1) advertisement sales phrase expected to get the sponsors within May 2018 which has the revenue share according to the agreement and (2) the phrase that Blue Finix shall use its existing Live Streaming Platform Engine plugs with ONE HD Application. As such, the actors of the channel could live during the filming (Sneak Peak Exclusive Content). This is expected to be launched within June 2018. The revenue sharing would be the same model as exsiting online streaming model of Blue Finix.

However, Blue Finix is experiencing problems both of their domestic and international businesses which may result in the company not performing as planned. As a result, the Company has asked Blue Finix to present its business plans to resolve Blue Finix’s liquidity issues and to negotiate with other joint venture partners, in order to set a clear business plan that is in line with the current economic situation. Blue Finix was asked to devise a business direction as a way forward for the company.
2. Business opportunity in a foreign country, the business cooperation plan between Blue Finix and Cat Thien Sa in the Republic of Vietnam. The channel has famous programme such as The Face, The Voice, etc. At present, Cat Thien Sa has revenue approximately Baht 5,000 million per annum which comes from online sector approximately Baht 1,000 million per annum. For this collaboration, Blue Finix shall be responsible for procuring and manufacturing the operating system (“Viva TV Application”) which is OTT service, and Cat Thien Sa shall be responsible for procuring and producing the content of the programme including providing registration network for Viva TV Application monthly subscription. The management of Blue Finix has considered that Mobile OTT is currently in the growth in the Republic of Vietnam since the increase of mobile subscribers. As such, the forecast revenue would be around Baht 80 million Baht per annum.

At present, Blue Finix and Cat Thien Sa has already signed a MOU and in the process of negotiation. It is expected that the project would be launched within 4 months once the agreement has been signed, and then the revenue would be immedietly recognized. The memorandum of understanding could be summarized as follows:
-
The memorandum of understanding has the purpose to set up a joint venture company about Live Streaming Platform with a name VIVATV.
-
At the first phase, Cat Thien Sa will invest USD 700,000 (75 percent of shares) and Blue Finix will invest the licensing fee of Live Streaming Platform engine with the approximate value as USD 250,000 (25 percent of shares).
-
VIVATV will pay Blue Finix an amount of USD 10,000 per 4 months for system customization.
-
At publishing platform phase, VIVATV will pay for Blue Finix maintenance fee approximately 8 percent from monthly revenue.
-
After 1 year of public release, Cat Thien Sa has the right to buy out all platform and source code at USD 700,000 and Blue Finix shall have the right to sell its shares to any 3rd parties at market price.
Based on the valuation of the above projects. The Company has considered the impairment of investment in associate (Blue Phoenix Digital Co., Ltd.) because the expected return is lower than the book value. The Company recorded allowance for impairment in the year 2017 and 2018 of Baht 65.33 million and 2.08 million respectively and considered the impairment of investment in a subsidiary in the separate financial statements (Diameter Innovation Company Limited) holding shares in Blue Phoenix Digital Co., Ltd.) recording because the expected return is lower than the book value. Allowance for impairment in the year 2017 was Baht 7.94 million.
In accordance with the resolution of the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of Blue Phoenix Digital Company Limited No. 2/2018 on September 27, 2018, the resolutions are as follows:

-  
Approved the liquidator of the company to issue a letter of debt to the shareholders who have not fully paid for the shares. The Company has complied with the resolution of the meeting by paying additional unpaid shares of Baht 0.45 million as at December 31, 2018. The Company still has outstanding balance of Baht 0.18 million.
-  
Approve the dissolution of the company The company registered the dissolution with the Department of Business Development on December 19, 2018 and it is in the process of liquidation and pay back the capital to the company.
B.
The Board of Directors Meeting No. 8/2017 held on September 15, 2017 the Board of Directors of the Company resolved to approve the investment in the hyper reality development business, the Marvel Experience Thailand: Theme Entertainment Attraction (TMX) of Hero Experience Co., Ltd. (Hero Experience) by the purchase of 32.5 percent of the newly issued shares by Hero Experience Co., Ltd., totaling of Baht 280 million. Later, on December 12, 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the additional purchase of 5 percent of the new shares issued by the capital increase of Hero Experience, totaling of Baht 45 million, thereby resulting in the total combined shareholding of 37.5 percent of Baht 325 million in total. It is expected that the return on investment will be at the rate of at least 20 percent.  The construction permit for the TMX Project was granted; the construction commenced since September 2017 and the company will recognize income within May 2018. On December 27, 2017, it was informed by the company that the investment transaction has been completed with the payment of capital investment of Baht 325 million. The summary of the Joint Venture Agreement between Hero Experience Co., Ltd. and Hero Venture of the United States of America, wherein Hero Experience received the royalty fee during August 2017 by giving the details on the term of the agreement, value of return, conditions for the royalty payment as follows:
-
HVI is the licensee of copyrights and trademarks of Marvel characters owned by Marvel Characters B.V. (Marvel).
-
HVI grants Hero the right to use copyrights and trademarks of Marvel characters, Marvel story lines/cartoons and other creations (“Intellectual Property Rights”) under the Project.
-
The term of the agreement is three (3) years which may be renewed for another term of three (3) years with the permission of HVI and Marvel.
-
Hero shall be required to pay the license fee for the term of three (3) years, at the amount which cannot be disclosed, in 3 installments. So far, Hero has paid 2 installments.
-
Hero shall be required to pay the royalty fees in proportion to its income to Marvel and HVI annually. The Company cannot disclose the related royalty amount since such information is trade secrets of the Company and the counterparty.
The Board of Director of the Company has considered the advantage of TMX project as follows:

1.
Marvel brand is an international brand having the global reputation;
Marvel Entertainment, LLC was incorporated in May 1939 and it has been 78 years until now. At the initial stage, it sold comic books and created world famous characters, e.g. Captain America, Ironman, Spider-Man, etc. In 2008, Marvel produced the first movie, i.e. Iron Man, and was able to earn more than USD 585 million. The second movie was The Incredible Hulk which could raise income for more than USD 263 million in the same year. Consequently, The Walt Disney Company (Disney) saw the capacity of Marvel and acquired Marvel on December 31, 2009 at USD 4,300 million. Thereafter, Marvel has produced several movies and continued to be successful.
2. 
The official support from the Ministry of Tourism and Sports and the Board of Investment

On August 21, 2017, Hero attended a meeting with Mrs. Kobkarn Wattanavrangkul, the Minister of the Ministry of Tourism and Sports, and Mr. Pongpanu Svetarundra, the Permanent Secretary of the Ministry of Tourism and Sports. In this respect, the Tourism Authority of Thailand (TAT), as the public sector, agreed to promote the joint investment by the private sector in the TMX project as the project supports and promotes good relationship in the family (Family Attraction) with the aim to make TMX as one of the tourist attractions of Bangkok. Moreover, it is eligible for the promotion of the Office of the Board of Investment (BOI) for the exemption of import duties for the import of machines and equipment and the exemption of income tax for a period of 5 years.

3.
The location (Mega Bangna) has the capacity to encourage the income growth
Mega Bangna is the largest shopping mall in Bangna District. At present, there are about 120,000 customers in Mega Bangna daily, or 40 million customers per year. 98 percent of the customers are Thais and 2 percent are tourists while the number is continuously increasing at the average rate of 10 percent. Currently, there are about 8,000 parking spaces (5,000 in-door spaces, and 3,000 outdoor spaces). Mega Bangna has the plan to develop the department store into “Mega City” by increasing the Parking spaces, Entertainment zone, Leisure, Sport, Education and the hotel which would encourage TMX to be a more complete tourism location.

4.
The growth of the number of foreign tourists in Thailand
Based on the foreign tourist statistics from the Department of Tourism in 2016, the total number of foreign tourists in Thailand is more than 32 million persons which grew 45 percent, or more than 10 million persons, within the past 5 years, with the tendency to grow continuously. Among the growth, 60 percent of the growth results from Chinese tourists. In 2016, approximately 9 million Chinese tourists visited Thailand per year, or approximately 24,000 persons per day, approximately 60 percent of which or 14,400 persons per day visited Bangkok. If TMX is one of the tourist attractions, the Company expects that more than 30 percent of the tourists will use the service and create income for TMX.
The tourism location is in the form of digital hyper reality over the area of 12,935 square meters which can support up to 10,950 tourists per day. Currently, 70 percent of the construction has been completed and the area has been expaned to be 16,500 square meters from the excellent design as shown in the photos.

5.
The estimated revenue of the Company from the study
The Company has estimated the revenue from the TMX project, based on an estimated 3,000 visitors per day, or about 1.2 million per annum. It would generate revenue approximately of Baht 1,000,000,000 per annum, which is a reasonable and acceptable return on the project.
The revenue would come from four main areas as follows:
1)
Revenue from ticket sold.
2)
Revenue from souvenirs and merchandises sold.
3)
Revenue from food and drinks sold.
4)
Revenue from sponsorship and barter systems.
Nevertheless, the Company tries to minimize the risk which may arise from the investment to the extent possible by including conditions for the management of Hero into the related agreements as follows:
1.
3 out of 9 directors of Hero must be nominated by the Company in order for such persons to perform duties on behalf of the Company as the shareholder.
2.
Hero must maintain insurance policies to protect property from damage from events, such as fire, flood, and political unrests.
3.
The directors nominated by the Company shall jointly sign with the directors nominated by other shareholders with the affixation of the company seal for transactions having a value exceeding Baht 10,000,000.
4.
The consideration of financial and accounting policies and related matters must always be proposed for acknowledgement or approval by the Board of Directors.
5.
The quorum of the board of directors must consist the attendance by at least 1 director that is the Company’s representative, whereby the quorum is formed and the meeting may commence.
6.
The quorum for the shareholders’ meeting must always consist of the Company attending the meeting to form the quorum and the meeting may commence.
7.
The prescription of shareholders’ reserved matters which require the consideration and approval of the shareholders with the majority vote of not less than 75 percent of the total votes of the attending shareholders as follows:
1)
Amendment of the company’s articles or memorandum of association.
2)
Capital increase or capital decrease of the company.
3)
Issuance of instruments, bonds, debentures, or any debt instruments of the company.
4)
Issuance of any other shares besides ordinary shares.
5)
Increase or decrease of rights attached to the shares.
6)
Taking out loans or entering into any agreement, including raw materials supply agreement, service agreement, management agreement, project development agreement, or creating encumbrances or capital expenditure having a value of more than Baht 10,000,000 (Baht 10 million).
7)
Guarantee, mortgage, issuance of letter of guarantee, debenture, creation of debts or any action on behalf of the company which results in the decrease in value of the company’s fixed assets (including land).
8)
Appointment, removal of the President, directors, Managing Director, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer who are authorized to manage the company, including the prescription of special benefits for directors and employees which includes the fixing of directors’ compensation.
9)
Appropriation of the company’s legal capital as dividends, reserves or other savings for other appropriate purposes, or cancellation of the reservation or savings in compliance with laws.
10)
Direct or indirect expenses and/or benefits for the company directors which result in benefits other than those stipulated in business plans, yearly budget and regulations.
11)
Appointment of accounting auditors and fixing of the auditor’s remuneration.
12)
Approval of balance sheet, statement of cash follow, and income statement of the company.
13)
Entering into an agreement or creating encumbrances over the company or acquisition of assets (including land) of the company having a value of more than Baht 10,000,000 (Baht 10 million).
14)
Participating in agreements which create commitments, amalgamation, joint investment or investment in a subsidiary.
15)
Amendment of the terms with respect to quorum required for the meeting of shareholders or the Board of Directors.
16)
Declaration of dividends and conditions for the payment to each type of shareholders entitled to receive such dividends, including the notification of the amendment in the dividends to be distributed to the shareholders.
17)
Change of the company’s nature of business, or investment in any company having the objectives not directly relevant to the normal operation of the company.
18)
Consideration of any other matters which the Civil and Commercial Code requires the special resolution.
Referred to additional information many creditors of Hero Experience Co.,Ltd. accounted for Baht 59.50 million filed a lawsuit and/ or submitted letter to claim their debt with interest and late payment surcharge. The financial statements of associated company that the company recognised equity income/ loss, did not recorded such interest and late payment surcharge. During February 14-15, 2019 Hero Experience Co.,Ltd. setup mediation meeting and informed their creditors about settlement plan after April 2019. In January and February 2019 Hero Experience Co.,Ltd. occurred severance pay amounting to THB 1.20 million due to termination of some staffs.
On January 21, 2019 Hero Experience Co.,Ltd. held extra-ordinary general meeting No.1/2019 to propose an agenda to termination of the project Hero Experience due to the fact that Hero Experience has a lack of liquidity problem, and the Project has not been operated in accordance with the plan. The Meeting resolved to terminate the Project with 62.50 percent of the votes in favour and 37.50 percent of the votes against. The management of Hero Experience has scheduled cessation of the operation of the Project on January 29, 2019; the show at 6.00 PM on such day will be the last performance. The company as shareholders of 37.50% share in Hero Experience shall carefully co-consider with the major shareholder regarding the management of Hero Experience’s assets in order to limit the negative effect on the Company.

In addition the loan agreement between Siam Commercial Bank Public Company Limited and Hero Experience Co.,Ltd. Dated May 23, 2018, the Company was guaranteed by its fixed deposit bank account of Baht 90 million. In the extra-ordinary general meeting No. 1/2019  resolved to settle loan agreement with the fixed deposit bank account, allowed bank to deduct this collateral of Baht 3 million each month.
At present, Hero Experience Co.,Ltd. is under consideration the new business model that awaiting the explicit plan and resolution of lawsuits.

12. Investments in subsidiaries
As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, investments in subsidiaries are as follows:
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	Separate

	Companies
	Issued and paid-up share capital
	% of Holding
	At cost
	Dividend for the 
year ended

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Demeter Innovation Company Limited
	48,000
	48,000
	100.00
	100.00
	73,862
	73,862
	-
	-

	Demeter Power Company Limited
	35,000
	35,000
	99.99
	99.99
	35,000
	35,000
	-
	-

	Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited
	5,000
	5,000
	33.64
	33.64
	-
	83,346
	-
	-

	Less Allowance for devaluation of 
     investments
	
	
	
	
	(75,996)
	(105,115)
	-
	-

	Total
	
	
	
	
	32,866
	87,093
	-
	-


12.1
On December 16, 2016, the Meeting of the Board of Directors No. 10/2016 resolved to approve the investment in the biogas power plant project located in Suphanburi Province (the “Project”) as owned and operated by Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Co., Ltd. (“Aukkarawat”) The investment transactions are as follows : Part 1 Acquisition of 25,000 ordinary shares in Aukkarawat from the existing shareholders, equivalent to 50 percent of the registered capital of Aukkarawat, at the purchase price of Baht 4,400 per share, totaling Baht 110 million. The completion of the transaction is expected to be within July 2017. The completion of the Share Acquisition Transaction will be divided into three milestone :
1) First milestone : 8,200 shares, representing 16.40% of Aukkarawat’s total issue shares within December 2016, Second milestone : 8,619 shares, representing 17.24% of Aukkarawat’s total issue shares within January 2017, and third milestone : 8,181 shares, representing 16.36% of Aukkarawat’s total issue shares within July 2017.
2) Investment budget for power plant facility improvement and procurement and installation of machinery of up to Baht 180 million.
On December 28, 2016, the Company executed an agreement with the existing shareholder of Aukkrarawat to amend the terms of the Share Purchase Agreement. Material amendment to the Share Purchase Agreement is that there are changes to the Shareholding structure in Aukkrarawat under which certain shares of the existing shareholders were transferred to Thanayatorn Power Plant Co.,Ltd. and therefore Thanayatorn Power Plant will be the transferring shareholder under the terms of the Share Purchase Agreement.
On December 30, 2016, the Company paid cash of Baht 74 million for the first portion of shares purchase (8,200 shares), of Baht 36.08 million.  The first portion of shares was transferred to the Company on that date.  For the rest amount of Baht 37.92 million, it represented advance payment for the second portion of shares purchase (8,619 shares) that was recorded as a non-current asset on December 31, 2016.  Subsequently, the second portion of shares was transferred to the Company on January 12, 2017.

In addition, the Company paid for a commission fee of Baht 9.34 million for such shares acquisition. Thus, as at December 31, 2017, value of investment was stated at the amount of Baht 83.35 million. (Therefore, if the third completion of the share sale and purchase does not take place, the Company is entitled to claim for such sum of money in full from the broker according to the conditions stipulated under the brokerage agreement. Preliminary, the Company has issued a letter dated January 26, 2018 to the broker informing about the refund of the security deposit since the over of the deadline dated November 30, 2017. However, the third completion of the share sale and purchase is completed, the Company may not claim for such security deposit although the Company may incur any damage from the investment in Aukkrarawat as there are no warranties with respect to the result of the investment under the brokerage agreement).
Nevertheless, in case the Company could not get the refund of the brokerage fee, or damaged from such payment in any case. The Board of Directors consider that the Company has to take the legal measures to the broker and related parties including the management approving the payment of the brokerage fee in order to protect the interests of the Company and the shareholders.
On April 21, 2017, Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Co.,Ltd. (“the subsidiary”) sent out the letter to PEA to request stopping the electricity supply in order to improve the power plant, machines and equipments for better efficiency. And on July 14, 2017, PEA has acknowledged and notified the subsidiary to proceed the improvement by submitting the improvement details, connection device format (Single Line). If the capacity is increased, it must be approved by PEA by submitting a detailed plan for increasing capacity or extending the power system to PEA for consideration prior to commencement of operation for not less than 3 months.
Nevertheless, during the project area development, it was found that the neighboring communities around project materially retrieve less waste water from the project. Based on the inspection, it was found that (1) there are new power plant projects in the area and the neighboring community which could retrieve waste water from Aukkrarawat may consider retrieving the waste water from such new projects if it takes less transportation time for them, and (2) the neighboring community receives waste water from similar power plants located in the same area, some of which transport their waste water to the community. Therefore, it is not necessary for the community to retrieve the waste water directly from the project.
Due to such event, the Board of Directors has been informed about the change in the project. The Board of Directors, therefore, has assigned the management of the Company to conduct a study on impacts and possible solutions. Subsequently, the Board of Directors has received the result of the management’s study on the chaing of water receiving process of the community, and other possibilities for waste water treatment including the transportation of such water waste to the communities, installation of waste water treatment machines, and the increase of water settling area, and then found that these effect the costs of the project. From the study on the information of increased costs, the possible method which least effects the project costs is the transportation of the waste water out of the project, but such method would result in the material increase of costs by around 30 percent.
The Board of Directors has considered additional facts and the study of the change in cost structure and found that the operation of the project in the same manner may result in an inability to acquire the benefits to Company and for shareholders as when the investment was previously approved. In such case, it is viewed that the executive shall explore the solutions so that the Company is least affected by the project, such as moving of the plant, reducing other costs or additional negotiation with another group of shareholders to amend the joint investment of the project, feasibility on the termination of the investment or sale of investment. The Board of Directors will consider such solutions. 
Due to the reasons mentioned above, the Company has slowed down all actions relating to the area improvement, procurement and installment of machines. Currently, the Company has not made payments for area improvement, procurement and installation of machines. There is only outstanding account payable for sellers who initially performed factory area improvement in the amount of approximately Baht 200,000.
According to the appraisal report of Sims Property Consultants Co., Ltd. dated February 13, 2018, using the income approach, the appraiser conducted to examine the price of the 4.9 megawatt biogas power plant project under the 20 year business plan of Agro-Business Renewable Energy Co., Ltd. The power plant should be worth of Baht 161.20 million. In the estimate above, the appraisal value is based on the following assumptions:
A.  The power plant is produced from molasses wastewater with a COD of not less than 150,000 mg / l of a   company. It is located about 43 kilometers from the power plant.

B.  Duration of the project is 20 years. Construction period is approximately 1 year from the date of  assessment  19 years from the date of completion of the project, the investment amount of Baht 260.60 million is sufficient for the construction of bio-gas system, pipeline system, gas filter system, power generation system.

C.  Documentation received from the company is accurate, reliable and also the power purchase agreement with the Electricity Generating Authority of Thailand.

D.  In this appraisal, the land lease contract is for a period of 10 years and can be renewed for another ten years, with the first year rent of Baht 1.2 million, with a rental rate of 2% per annum.

E.  In this valuation, cash flow from cash flow and cash equivalents of Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited, current assets, receivables, payables, and liabilities before the valuation date for this business valuation, are not considered valuation.
Based on the valuation of the above projects. as a result, the Company has to recognize impairment losses on goodwill of Baht 20.73 million in the consolidated financial statements and the Company recorded loss on impairment of investments in subsidiaries of Baht 29.18 million in the separate financial statements for the year 2017.
On August 4, 2017, the Company has signed the amendment of the Share Purchase Agreement (the 3rd) to extend the third milestone to complete within October 31, 2017. And on October 20, 2017, the Company has signed a MOU to extend the third share purchase for a period of 30 days, which will be due on November 30, 2017. The Company and other shareholders of Aukkarawat are in the process of negotiating on business issues to be determined in the shareholders’ agreement, which is a condition precedent of the transfer. The terms being under negotiation such as rights and duties of each shareholder and details of management and administration of the Company by the board of directors and shareholders. It is expected that the negotiation will be final and the transaction will be completed by November 30, 2017. In order to negotiate regarding Aukkrarawat management with the seller. Currently, due to the fact that the Company and the seller are not able to fulfill the conditions precedent for the third completion of the share sale and purchase since the negotiation on other essence matters have yet to be completed, the Company has yet not completed the third purchase of the shares. Moreover, if the parties are unable to proceed with the third completion of the share sale and purchase due to the conditions precedent could not be completely taken, the parties may consider to terminate the agreement and require the other party to pay damages (if any) incurred between them according to the laws.
On February 27, 2018, the Board of Directors has resolved to consider the investment in Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited as follows:
Reference is made to the Clarification Letter regarding the Board of Directors’ opinion on the dept cost structure analysis for the investment in the biogas power plant project of Aukkrarawat that the Board of Directors has considered additional facts and the study of the change in cost structure. Then, it has been found that the operation of the project in the same manner may result in an inability to acquire the benefits to Company and for shareholders as when the investment was previously approved. In such case, it is viewed that the executive shall explore the solutions so that the Company is least affected by the project and the Board of Directors will consider such solutions within February 2018, per detail as refer.
The Company would like to inform that the Company has proposed the solutions with the significant issues from the study of such solutions as follows:
(1)
Analysis on cost of the treatment of waste water created from the power plant using biomass energy
According to the studies of the possibility in the investment before deciding to invest, the Company received the information that, in general, the neighboring community around the project (within the 20 kilometers radius) would request for such waste water from the project to irrigate agricultural area of the community. Nevertheless, during the project area development, it was found that the neighboring communities around project materially retrieve less waste water from the project. Based on the inspection, it was found that (1) there are new power plant projects in the area and the neighboring community which could retrieve waste water from Aukkarawat may consider retrieving the waste water from such new projects if it takes less transportation time for them, and (2) the neighboring community receives waste water from similar power plants located in the same area, some of which transport their waste water to the community. Therefore, it is not necessary for the community to retrieve the waste water directly from the project. As such, the Company has conduct the cost analysis of the transportation of waste water to the neighboring community.
From the study, in case Aukkrarawat has to bear the cost of waste water transportation to the neighboring community, the commercial feasibility of the project would significantly decrease. The reason is because Aukkrarawat still has to bear the cost of the transportation of the material (Vinasses water) from the Biofuel Mitrphol Factory, Dan Chang which, currently, is 45 kilometers from the project. Further, the waste water transportation to neighboring community shall increase cost of the project around 30 percent.
(2)
Analysis on movement of the location of the project to reduce the distance for raw material (Vinasses water) transportation from the Biofuel Mitrphol Factory, Dan Chang
From the study of the dept cost structure of the transportation from (1) and (2), it has been found that the Company still has high limitation. Hence, the Company has studied the possibility to move the location of the project to reduce the distance for raw material transportation which is the fixed cost.
Currently, the distance of raw material transportation is around 45 kilometers. From the location search to increase commercial feasibility by considering from the current location, it has been found that there are 2 potential locations. They are located in the north of the current location, next to Nong Ya Sai, where is the nearest to the raw material resource and far from residential community (where is sugar cane and vegetable garden).
The Company has explored the 2 potential locations for moving of the factory. The total distance is around 28.7 kilometers. The Company has also explored shortcut with the distance around 23.9 kilometers. It has been found as follows:
(A)
Area 1 is the area that has transmission lines already but the transmission lines are still small (which is able to be changed to be bigger) Most of the area is sugar cane and vegetable garden, far from residential community (having a few houses). Hence, it has the potential site for the power plant.
(B)
Area 2 is the area does not have transmission lines but it is the wide-open area considered to have potential to set up the power plant. Nevertheless, it needs to invest in the construction of additional transmission lines from the existing and develop the entrance of the area to let large trucks are able to enter into the area.
(C)
The shortcut is unlikely to be used because there is dirt road and holes in the middle part. This will result in splash waste water from the trucks especially in the rainy season which is likely to have more holes.
Hence, the most probable solution from studying of relocation possibility of Aukkrarawat to reduce the distance of raw material transportation is moving the project location to area 1 or area 2 Based on the evaluation result of the waste water transportation from the factory of raw material (Vinasses water) from Biofuel Mitrphol Factory, Dan Chang, the distance will be around 28.7 kilometers.
(3)
Analysis on possibility to install water treatment system
The result of analysis on cost of water treatment system installation is around 40-60 baht per waste water ton. This would affect the cost structure and the investment return of the project.
(4)
Analysis on possibilities to terminate share purchase agreement
Terms and conditions agreed with the parties and the conditions of the payment of remaining sale share consideration or the 3rd share sale or in the proportion of 16.36 percent of all shares, or in the amount of approximate 36 million Baht, the Company has asked for the comment from legal counsel, Kudun and Partners Limited. The details are as follows:
According to the share purchase agreement between the Company and Aukkrarawat, the agreement with respect to payment of the sale share consideration, conditions of payment and termination of agreement as follows:
Conditions precedent for the third completion of the share sale and purchase
-
The seller and the purchaser having entered into the shareholders’ agreement according to the agreed terms.
Event of default as a cause for termination
If either party fails to perform any of its material obligations on the completion date of the share sale and purchase (first, second or third), the other party has the right to take any of the following actions:
(1)
Immediately terminate this agreement without prejudice against the right to claim for damages incurred against the other party.
(2)
Exercise or waive any rights to proceed with the completion of the share sale and purchase on the completion date of the share sale and purchase; or
(3)
Determine the new completion date which shall be no more than 5 (five) business days from the previously stipulated completion date, provided that each of the parties performs its obligations on the rescheduled completion date of the share sale and purchase and such rescheduling may take place only once, unless otherwise agreed between the parties.
In this regard, the Company agreed to extend the third completion of the share sale and purchase to November 30, 2017 in order to negotiate regarding Aukkrarawat management with the seller. Currently, due to the fact that the Company and the seller are not able to fulfill the conditions precedent for the third completion of the share sale and purchase since the negotiation on other essence matters have yet to be completed, the Company has yet not completed the third purchase of the shares. Moreover, if the parties are unable to proceed with the third completion of the share sale and purchase due to the conditions precedent could not be completely taken, the parties may consider to terminate the agreement and require the other party to pay damages (if any) incurred between them according to the laws.
Hence, the Board of Directors has considered all the solutions and opined that the operation of the project either in the same manner or according to the solutions no. (1) - (3) may result in an inability to acquire the benefits to Company and for shareholders as when the investment was previously approved. In such case, it is viewed that the Company shall terminate or sell the investment, and the Company shall, then, seek for investors who are interested in the project.  Nevertheless, to protect benefits of the Company and the shareholders, the Company is under consideration to take legal action and claim for damages pursuant to the share purchase agreement.
As a result of the resolution of the shareholder’s meeting of Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited on May 25, 2018, the Company’s representative as directors has had their positions ceased. On June 7, 2018, Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited has registered the amendment of the director and the Company no longer has control over the subsidiary company from that date forward. Therefore, in the financial statements as of 30 June 2018, the status of investments in subsidiaries was changed; this project was reported in the general investment. As a result, the Company had to recognize loss on goodwill of Baht 51.20 million in the consolidated financial statements and changed its investment in a subsidiary to be a general investment with book value at the transfer date to long-term investments amounting to Baht 54.23 million.
The movement of goodwill in the biogas power plant project in Suphanburi province, operated by Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited

	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated

	
	December 31, 2018

	Goodwill
	

	Beginning
	51,202,950

	Less Impairment of  Goodwill
	(51,202,950)

	Net
	-


12.2
On September 3, 2018, the Board of Directors of Demeter Innovation Company Limited (the “Subsidiary”) resolve to invest in a new company under the name of “Hinoki Wood Work Company Limited.” At 100% of the registered capital. The Company registered the establishment on September 13, 2018 of Baht 1 million.
13. Other long-term investments
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	Issued and paid-up
	Investment
	December 31, 2018

	Country
	Subsidiary
	Currency
	Amount
	(percentage)
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	Cost
	
	
	
	
	

	Thailand
	1) Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited (NOTE 2.1)
	Baht
	5,000,000
	33.64
	2,864
	54,228

	England
	2) DNANUDGE Limited *
	Euro
	21,504,058
	0.67
	42,600
	-

	
	Less Allowance for impairment of general investments
	
	
	
	-
	(51,364)

	
	Other long-term investments, Net
	
	
	
	45,464
	2,864


* According to the financial statements as of July 31, 2018
Investments in equity securities are classified as general investments comprise of the following:
13.1
As a result of the resolution of the shareholder’s meeting of Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited on May 25, 2018, the Company’s representative as directors has had their positions ceased. On June 7, 2018, Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited has registered the amendment of the director and the Company no longer has control over the subsidiary company from that date forward. Therefore, in the financial statements, the status of investments in subsidiaries was changed; this project was reported in the general investment. In the consolidated financial statements and changed its investment in a subsidiary to be a general investment with book value at the transfer date to long-term investments amounting to Baht 54.23 million.
The major shareholders of Aukkarawat Plant Renewable Energies Company Limited sent out a letter dated September 14, 2018 to call for the Company to pay compensation in the amount of Baht 36 million in case the Company does not purchase the remaining shares. However, the Company’s management team has discussed about the issue of compensation regarding that there are issues that the company has a dispute of which there are currently no settlements. This may lead to a court process to resolve the dispute.
13.2
The subsidiary purchased the investment of 1,000 shares (par value of GBP 0.001 per share) at a price of GBP 1,000 per share. Total amount is 1,000,000 pounds sterling (42,600,000 baht) in DNANUDGE LIMITED, which is a limited company registered under the laws of England and Wales.
The subsidiary pledges the whole amount of shares in order to guarantee any liabilities under the loan agreement and share pledge agreement with other persons (being shareholders in the company) (as in Note 21). On February 26, 2019, the parties agreed to cancel above a buy and sell in share agreement and related loan.
14. Trade and other non-current receivables
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Debt restructuring
	53,830,547
	39,304,000
	53,830,547
	39,304,000

	Allowance for doubtful accounts
	(53,830,547)
	(39,304,000)
	(53,830,547)
	(39,304,000)

	Total
	-
	-
	-
	-


Allowance for trade and other non-current receivables have changed during the years as follows:
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Beginning balance
	39,304,000
	39,304,000
	39,304,000
	39,304,000

	Increase (Decrease)
	(1,800,000)
	-
	(1,800,000)
	-

	Transfer (transfer out)
	16,326,547
	-
	16,326,547
	-

	Ending balance
	53,830,547
	39,304,000
	53,830,547
	39,304,000


14.1
Debt restructuring : on July 15, 2015, the Company signed an agreement of debt restructuring and acknowledgement of debt of a debtor. Under the terms of the agreement, the debtor will complete the debt repayment within 36 months by monthly installment, completing in July 2018 as following terms;
The 1st month period to the 12th month period, to pay not less than Baht 500,000.
The 13th month period to the 33rd month period, to pay not less than Baht 1,500,000.
The 34th month period to the 35th month period, to pay not less than Baht 2,000,000.
The debtor agreed to pay the remaining debt within the 36th period (July 2018).
The Company has recorded a provision for doubtful accounts from debt restructuring in full amount since the debtor defaulted in the payment according to the agreement of debt restructuring and acknowledgement of debt. The Company has filed a Civil Court against the receivable and on May 15, 2017, the Civil Court judged that the defendant had to pay the debt amount in accordance with the judgement, starting the first payment within August 10, 2017. The debtor defaulted the payment. The Company is in the process of enforcement.
14.2
On June 25, 2018, the Company entered into a compromise agreement with MIC Broadcast Co. Ltd., (MIC) as the following contracts: 

Contract No. 1 debt outstanding in the amount of Baht 20.58 million is to be repayable on a monthly basis. Not less than Baht 0.30 million per installment of 29 installments and Baht 11.76 million shall be paid by the end of December 2020. 

Contract No. 2 debt amount to Baht 44.22 million is due for the first two installments within December 2018 amounting to Baht 22.11 million, and the second installment within June 2019 amounting to Baht 22.11 million.

The Company recorded allowance for doubtful accounts from the compromise debtors in full amount.
However, the 2nd contract, the debtor has defaulted. The Company has requested the court to issue a enforcement order which will carry out the investigation and enforcement of the case in the next step.

15. Property, plant and equipment
Movements of the property, plant and equipment account for the years ended December 31, 2018, are summarized below:
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated

	
	January 1, 
2018
	Increase
	Decrease
	Decreased due to loss of control power
	December 31, 2018

	Cost
	
	
	
	
	

	Building
	24,172,337
	-
	-
	(24,172,337)
	-

	Building improvements
	16,255,360
	-
	-
	-
	16,255,360

	Furniture, fixture and office 
equipment
	10,816,538
	120,389
	(94,924)
	-
	10,842,003

	Vehicle
	11,696,383
	-
	-
	-
	11,696,383

	Machinery and equipment
	3,909,519
	-
	-
	(3,909,519)
	-

	Total
	66,850,137
	120,389
	(94,924)
	(28,081,856)
	38,793,746

	Accumulated depreciation
	
	
	
	
	

	Building
	(6,205,212)
	(235,482)
	-
	6,440,694
	-

	Building improvements
	(2,052,724)
	(812,768)
	-
	-
	(2,865,492)

	Furniture, fixture and office 
equipment
	(5,388,541)
	(2,104,550)
	85,505
	-
	(7,407,586)

	Vehicle
	(6,858,394)
	(2,339,276)
	-
	-
	(9,197,670)

	Machinery and equipment
	(2,491,285)
	(71,260)
	-
	2,562,545
	-

	Total
	(22,996,156)
	(5,563,336)
	85,505
	9,003,239
	(19,470,748)

	Allowances for impairment of assets
	(9,338,028)
	(9,740,589)
	-
	19,078,617
	-

	Net
	34,515,953
	
	
	
	19,322,998

	Depreciation expense for the year
	
	
	
	
	

	December 31, 2018
	
	
	
	
	5,563,336

	December 31, 2017
	
	
	
	
	6,822,697


	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Separate

	
	January 1, 2018
	Increase
	Decrease
	Transfer in (Transfer out)
	December 31, 2018

	Cost
	
	
	
	
	

	Building improvements
	16,255,360
	-
	-
	-
	16,255,360

	Furniture, fixture and office 
equipment
	10,816,538
	120,389
	(94,924)
	-
	10,842,003

	Vehicle
	11,696,383
	-
	-
	-
	11,696,383

	Total
	38,768,281
	120,389
	(94,924)
	-
	38,793,746

	Accumulated depreciation
	
	
	
	
	

	Building improvements
	(2,052,724)
	(812,767)
	-
	-
	(2,865,491)

	Furniture, fixture and office 
equipment
	(5,388,541)
	(2,104,550)
	85,504
	-
	(7,407,587)

	Vehicle
	(6,858,394)
	(2,339,276)
	-
	-
	(9,197,670)

	Total
	(14,299,659)
	(5,256,593)
	85,504
	-
	(19,470,748)

	Net
	24,468,622
	
	
	
	19,322,998

	Depreciation expense for the years
	
	
	
	
	

	December 31, 2018
	
	
	
	
	5,256,593

	December 31, 2017
	
	
	
	
	5,218,140


As of December 31, 2018, the Company and subsidiaries have the property with historical costs of Baht 0.26 million that are in use but fully depreciated (Separate: Baht 0.26 million).
16. Investment Property
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated

	
	January 1, 2018
	Increase
	Decrease
	December 31, 2018

	Cost
	
	
	
	

	Land
	13,356,941
	-
	-
	13,356,941

	Building
	16,713,059
	-
	-
	16,713,059

	Tools and equipment
	10,940,398
	-
	(61,055)
	10,879,343

	Furniture, fixture and office equipment
	875,951
	-
	(14,178)
	861,773

	Total
	41,886,349
	-
	(75,233)
	41,811,116

	Accumulated depreciation
	
	
	
	

	Building
	(1,475,806)
	(243,200)
	-
	(1,719,006)

	Tools and equipment
	(7,179,462)
	(2,166,033)
	42,359
	(9,303,136)

	Furniture, fixture and office equipment
	(743,743)
	(123,016)
	11,786
	(854,973)

	Total
	(9,399,011)
	(2,532,249)
	54,145
	(11,877,115)

	Allowances for impairment of
 assets
	(10,859,653)
	
	
	(10,859,653)

	Net
	21,627,685
	
	
	19,074,348

	Depreciation expense for the year
	
	
	
	

	December 31, 2018
	
	
	
	2,532,249

	December 31, 2017
	
	
	
	2,706,325


17. Intangible asset
Movements of intangible asset for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, are as follow:
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separated

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Cost
	
	
	
	

	Beginning balance
	618,867,737
	618,867,737
	618,867,737
	618,867,737

	Additions
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Transfer out
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Ending balance
	618,867,737
	618,867,737
	618,867,737
	618,867,737

	Accumulated amortization
	
	
	
	

	Beginning balance
	(241,228,065)
	(226,038,317)
	(241,228,065)
	(226,038,317)

	Accumulated amortization for the years
	-
	(15,189,748)
	-
	(15,189,748)

	Transfer out
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Ending balance
	(241,228,065)
	(241,228,065)
	(241,228,065)
	(241,228,065)

	Ending balance
	377,639,672
	377,639,672
	377,639,672
	377,639,672

	Less Allowance for impairment
	(377,639,672)
	(377,639,672)
	(377,639,672)
	(377,639,672)

	Net
	-
	-
	-
	-


Accumulated amortization have changed during the years as follows:
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Beginning balance
	377,639,672
	353,887,686
	377,639,672
	353,887,686

	Increase - net
	-
	23,751,986
	-
	23,751,986

	Ending balance
	377,639,672
	377,639,672
	377,639,672
	377,639,672


Intangible asset are as follows:

17.1 On January 30, 2015, the Company entered into an Agreement relating to the purchase of the right to manage the broadcasting time (the “Broadcasting Right Purchase Agreement” or the “BPA”) with Media Agency Thai Company Limited (“MAT”). Under the BPA, the Company has been appointed as a co-manager, with the exclusive right to manage the broadcasting time, the purchase and sale of broadcasting time, lease or lease out the broadcasting time and products and services advertised through 5 satellite television channels (the “Right to Manage the Satellite Television Broadcasting”) for three years beginning on January 30, 2015 and ending on January 29, 2018. In consideration of the Right to Manage the Satellite Television Broadcasting, the Company agreed to make payments to MAT consisting of a) a onetime payment in the total amount of Baht 369,200,000 within 15 days from the date of the BPA, and monthly payments in the amount of Baht 10,300,000 (excluded VAT) throughout the term of the BPA. Under the BPA, MAT agrees to guarantee a monthly minimum income amount derived from the BPA for the Company in the amount of VAT included of Baht 24,000,000 for the first year, Baht 19,000,000 for the second year, and Baht 12,900,000 for the third year. If the income derived from the BPA is less than the aforementioned guaranteed amounts, MAT agrees to compensate the Company by making payments of the shortfall amount in order to procure that the Company receives the guaranteed amounts within the 25th day of each month, and the first payment shall be made by MAT on February 2015. 

For the period between February 2015 and September 30, 2015, there are outstanding payments relating to the guaranteed minimum income consisting of the principal amount of Baht 93,543,538.46 and the default interest thereon in the amount of Baht 1,703,493.75 (together referred to as the “Outstanding Payments”) to be paid by MAT to the Company. 
The Company and MAT negotiated on this matter and agreed to enter into the following agreements for the settlement of debts arising out of or that will arise from the BPA:  

1. The Outstanding Payments
On November 11, 2015, the Company and MAT entered into the Debt Restructuring Agreement in order  to set out a repayment plan for the Outstanding Payments (the principal amount of Baht 93,543,538.46 and the default interest thereon in the amount of Baht 1,703,493.75) for MAT. According to the Debt Restructuring Agreement, the Company and MAT agree that payment of the Outstanding Payments shall be made by 36 installments, provided that the first installment shall be made on the last business day of December 2015 and each of next installments shall be made on the last business day of each month. In this respect, MAT shall repay the unpaid default interest to the Company together with the last installment.
2. Other future debts which may arise from the BPA 
For other future debts which may arise from the BPA (including the guaranteed minimum income), MAT informed the Company that MAT will be entitled to the right to broadcast the Spain Copa del Rey 2015/16, 2016/17 and 2017/18 in Thailand and the right to broadcast the Golf European Tour Program in Thailand for 3 seasons i.e. the years 2016, 2017 and 2018 (together referred to as the “Broadcasting Rights”). In this regard, MAT agrees to negotiate with a broadcasting operator operating a television channel in order to grant the Broadcasting Rights to such operator. Based on the information provided by MAT, upon successful negotiation of this, MAT shall be entitled to the right to manage the advertising time during the broadcasting of such competition programs.
On September 1, 2015, MAT entered into the Sub-Lease Agreement for lease of a broadcasting channel for the broadcasting of the Golf European Tour Program with GTC Media Limited (the “Sub-Lease Agreement”). Under the Sub-lease Agreement, MAT is entitled to the right to manage the advertising time and receive the income derived from sale of the advertising time during the broadcasting of the Golf European Tour Program (the right to manage the advertising time during the broadcasting of the Spain Copa del Rey and the Golf European Tour Program shall be referred to as the “Right to Sell the Advertising Time”). 

MAT proposed to the Company that, after receipt of the money derived from the Right to Sell the Advertising Time, MAT will use such money for the repayment of all outstanding payments and other debts owed to the Company. Nevertheless, the Company viewed that there was a possibility that MAT may fail to manage or sell such Right to Sell the Adverting Time or may default on other payments due. Consequently, the Company and MAT negotiated on this matter and agreed that MAT would transfer the Right to Sell the Advertising Time to the Company. In addition, the Company would still be entitled to the income derived from the BPA, provided that the Company sets off the outstanding debts arising from the BPA against the income generated by the Company as a result of the management or sale of the Right to Sell the Advertising Time.
Therefore, on November 10, 2015, the Company entered into the Agreement relating to the repayment method under the Broadcasting Right Purchase Agreement with MAT (the “Repayment Agreement”). The objective of the Repayment Agreement is to specify and set out the terms and conditions for the repayment of the outstanding debts and other future debts which may arise from the BPA between the Company and MAT (excluding the Outstanding Payments). In order to ensure that the Company shall receive all money derived from the management or sale of the Right to Sell the Advertising Time, the Repayment Agreement requires MAT to exclusively transfer to the Company the Right to Sell the Advertising Time.
According to the Repayment Agreement, MAT shall transfer to the Company the Right to Sell the Advertising Time. By execution of the Repayment Agreement, the Company shall be entitled to manage the broadcasting time, the purchase and sale of broadcasting time, lease or lease out the broadcasting time or do other actions for generating income from such Right to Sell the Advertising Time (As the mentioned right is a management right, therefore the Company shall be entitled to deduct other expenses relating to the management and sale of such right from the revenue generated from such right). The net profit derived from the Right to Sell the Advertising Time shall be set off against the debts arising out from the BPA owed by MAT to the Company.
The Company did not record the fair value of the "Right to Sell the Advertising Time" as non-intangible asset in the financial statement since the received right is not considered as a novation. In this regard, the Repayment Agreement does not restrain MAT from performing its duties and obligations under the BPA. The Company and MAT intend to set forth methods for the repayment of debts arising out of the BPA and entitle the Company to deduct the income generated by the Right to Sell the Advertising Time from outstanding debts owed by MAT under the BPA. The Company shall also be entitled to claim the guaranteed minimum income provided by MAT to the Company under the BPA.
Inter-company contingencies and liabilities under that agreement, as of December 31, 2018, remain at Baht 299.45 million, comprising:
a. Receivables under the Debt Restructuring Agreement remain as at December 31, 2018, of Baht 72.01 million (included VAT). The details are as follows:
	Details
	(Unit : Million Baht)

	Accounts receivable under the Debt Restructuring Agreement
	98.16

	Less Payment received
	(26.15)

	Receivables under the Debt Restructuring Agreement as at December 31, 2018
	72.01


b. Value under the Repayment Agreement of Baht 227.44 million (excluded VAT). The details are as follows:
	Details
	(Unit : Million Baht)

	Fair value of the right to sell the advertising time during the broadcasting of Golf 
European Tour Program
	254.79

	Less Payment received
	(27.35)

	Value under the Repayment Agreement as at December 31, 2018
	227.44


From the incident, the Company hasn’t recognized revenues of the BPA on statement unless receipt of the money from MAT (Cash basis). 
The Company recorded a provision for impairment of the rights with its net book value.
On September 7, 2017, MAT informed the Company that MAT was not entitled to the right to broadcast the Golf European Tour Program in Thailand for the years 2017 and 2018. The Company filed a lawsuit against MAT on September 21, 2017, which the Court arranged for the negotiation / plaintiff to testify on November 20, 2017. Later, the defendant postponed the mediation appointment to January 19, 2018, after which they could not mediate. The Court made the appointment to examine the plaintiff on May 17, 2018, and examine the defendant on May 18, 2018. On July 16, 2018, the court sentenced Media agency pay to the Company Baht 314.99 million plus interest at the rate of 12% per annum of principal amounting to Baht 243.36 million as from June 30, 2017 and pay interest at the rate of 7.5% per annum of principal amounting to Baht 68.76 million as from the date filing onwards (filing date on September 21, 2017) until the payment is completed.
17.2 The rights to manage the satellite television channels for 16 channels at the cost of Baht 82 million including the rights for the period from December 2010 to November 2020 for 8 channels, and for the period from June 2013 to May 2023 for 8 channels. 
On August 26, 2015, the Company signed an agreement of early termination of the satellite television co-production agreement with M.V. Television (Thailand) Co., Ltd. for the 8 satellite television channels for the period from June 2013 to May 2023 and wrote off intangible assets amount of Baht 31.62 million. 
On November 17, 2015, the Company signed an agreement of early termination of the satellite television co-production agreement with M.V. Television (Thailand) Co., Ltd. for the 8 satellite television channels for the period from December 2010 to November 2020 by gradually termination. The Company wrote off intangible assets amount of Baht 20.26 million.
17.3 The rights of broadcasting and broadcast sounds in movies at the cost of Baht 117.44 million, the Company has recorded a provision for impairment amount of Baht 22.49 million in the year 2015, and amount of Baht 23.75 million in the year 2017.
The broadcasting and broadcast sounds in EDGE SPORT contents at the cost of Baht 67.84 million, the Company has recorded a provision amount of Baht 41.44 million in the year 2016.
17.4 The rights of live broadcast of soccer match at the cost of Baht 48 million. The Company has recorded a provision for impairment amount of Baht 43.66 million. 
Amortization expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017, amount of Baht 15.19 million respectively, were recorded as “Cost of broadcasting rights” and “Cost of programme co-production” respectively on statements of comprehensive income.
18. Other non-current financial assets
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Hire-purchase contract receivables
	102,959,690
	104,433,064
	102,959,690
	104,433,064

	Less Unearned interest income
	(17,447,740)
	(17,919,571)
	(17,447,740)
	(17,919,571)

	Net
	85,511,950
	86,513,493
	85,511,950
	86,513,493

	Less Current portion of hire-purchase contract 
receivables
	-
	(13,485,848)
	-
	(13,485,848)

	Allowance for doubtful accounts
	(85,511,950)
	-
	(85,511,950)
	-

	Total
	-
	73,027,645
	-
	73,027,645


18.1
Hire-purchase contract receivables : the Company signed a contract of selling lighting and air conditioning systems with a non-related company. The delivery and inspection tasks completed in August 2016 and the Company will receive payment under the contract in monthly installments totaling 84 installments in the amount of Baht 1,000,000 (excluded VAT), starting the first installment in September 2016. On November 11, 2016 signed a contract of selling lighting and air conditioning systems phase 2-1 and the Company will receive payment under the contract in monthly installments totaling 84 installments in the amount of Baht 407,853 (excluded VAT), starting the first installment in January 2017. 
In the year 2018, the debtor has undergone difficulty of liquidity which causes a negotiation on payment time extending and the amount payable in each period. However, the negotiation is on process of signing The company recognized fully allowance for doubtful debts.
According to the resolution of the Board of Director’s Meeting No. 8/2018 held on July 24, 2018, the Company has filed a lawsuit against IT Square Co., Ltd. On November 1, 2018. The Company has assigned Law Firm to proceed with further actions in filing a lawsuit against the debtors and the court made a mediation on 20 March 2019.

19. Deferred tax

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, The Company and subsidiaries has deductible temporary differences totaling Baht 329.02 million and 242.98 million, respectively (Separate Baht 296.95 million and Baht 212.98 million, respectively). On which deferred tax assets have not been recognized as the Company’s management considers that there is uncertainty whether the Company will have sufficient future taxable income to utilize such items and or they might not be used to offset taxable income in the future.
20. Other non-current assets
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separated

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Other deposits
	29,011,668
	39,035,804
	29,011,668
	38,935,804

	Less Allowance for non-refundable deposit
	(27,881,260)
	(29,587,619)
	(27,881,260)
	(29,587,619)

	Less Amortization of non-refundable deposits
	-
	(8,631,185)
	-
	(8,631,185)

	Deposits - net
	1,130,408
	817,000
	1,130,408
	717,000

	Venture capital
	29,810,506
	20,000,000
	29,810,506
	20,000,000

	Less allowance for doubtful accounts venture capital
	(29,810,506)
	-
	(29,810,506)
	-

	Venture capital - net
	-
	20,000,000
	-
	20,000,000

	Withholding tax
	7,908,418
	6,801,075
	7,670,636
	6,801,075

	Non-current assets held for sales
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Other
	-
	14,000
	-
	-

	Total
	9,038,826
	27,632,075
	8,801,044
	27,518,075


A
As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, non-current assets held for sales were non-operating assets represented the following assets for the construction stone mining which have been suspended, at the cost of Baht 17.02 million and the Company has made a provision for impairment all.
B
Venture capital
The Meeting of the Board of Directors No. 18/2017 held on November 7, 2017 resolved to approve the joint investment with Triple Ch Holdings Company Limited (Triple CH), who is licensed to live broadcast football in the Philippines, having 35 percent stake in the joint investment, valued at Baht 30 million, to engage in the business of live broadcasting football in the Philippines. Triple CH had an agreement as regards the guarantee on business operation for a period of 18 months, starting from December 1, 2017 that revenue that the Company receives shall not be less than the investment that the Company has made to support the operation of live broadcasting football matches. In addition, the Company has a condition on the payment of the joint venture that the payment is subject to the opinions of the Company’s legal advisor on legal status of Triple CH and the due authorization and license to operate the business of live broadcasting football matches.
The Company has already made a payment of Baht 20 million in November 2017 and made a payment of Baht 10 million in March 2018 after Triple CH is able to renew the license with beIN.
The Company hired LEUNG WAI LAW FIRM through Norton Rose Fulbright (Thailand) Co., Ltd. to provide opinions on the status of Triple CH, which can be summarized as follows:
· Triple CH is a foreign company, registered in Samoa in accordance with the International Company Act 1988 on September 14, 2014 and would expire on November 30, 2017, unless it is being extended.
· Triple CH is a company duly established in accordance with the laws and has never violated any laws of Samoa.
· As the date of status inspection, Triple CH has a shareholder named Bernard Camacho Sumayao.
· Triple CH has the registered capital of USD 1,000,000, divided into 1,000,000 shares, at the value of USD 1 per share. The Company also hired Apisith and Alliance Co., Ltd. to review the rights under the Licensing Agreement between beIN Sports Asia Pte Limited (“beIN”) and Triple CH dated December 1, 2017, under which the terms can be summarized as follows:
· beIN and Triple CH agreed on the prices of the licensing fees comprising of the higher of:
· The amount which cannot be disclosed since such information is trade secrets per 12 months period which shall be calculated on prorated basis; or
· 20 percent of all gross revenue and an additional 15 percent of any gross revenue in excess of the amount which cannot be disclosed since such information is trade secrets.
· Triple CH agreed to pay the license fees as set out below:
· 50 percent of the minimum guarantee upon execution of the agreement.
· 50 percent of the minimum guarantee on or before March 1, 2018.
· Any additional license fees must be paid within 30 days from receipt of the relevant monthly statement pursuant to the agreement.
· beIN agreed to grant to Triple CH the right to sub-license to ABS-CBN Corporation (“ABS-CBN”) the right to live broadcast the Premier League, EUFA Champions League and La Liga Season 2017-2018 (the “Live Program”) in the Philippines.
· beIN agreed to grant Triple CH the right to sub-license to ABS-CBN the right to use the logo of football clubs and trademarks which has been procured and authorized by the authorized persons of each of the clubs in connection with the Live Program, as well as the promotional activities relating to the Live Program.
· The license to live broadcast exclusively belongs to Triple CH in the Philippines. However, Triple CH is only licensed to live broadcast and rerun through free TV (FTA TV transmissions) only.
The Company has considered the opinions of the legal advisor regarding the status of Triple CH and the license, as well as the method of business operation and then made a decision to enter into the joint investment.
However, the business performance did not align with the initial plan, therefore, the Company has set aside an allowance for the whole amount.
21. Loans from other persons
Loans from other persons Which is a group of existing shareholders of a subsidiary of Baht 5.36 million and 
Loan from other person that the subsidiary entered into a loan agreement in the amount of Baht 42,600,000 (equivalent to 1,000,000 pounds sterling), interest rate of MLR. The subsidiary agreed to pay interest of the loan on the date of the repayment of all loans.
The repayment terms are as follows:
1) Stock price traded is supposed to be a price traded on the relevant stock market for more than Baht 50,000, calculated according to the average exchange rate of commercial banks in Bangkok (middle rate) at the exercise date or
2) After the expiration of December 31, 2019, whichever occurs first.
The subsidiary agreed to pledge the shares (as in Note 13.2) to guarantee any liabilities, which the subsidiary will hold during the purchase of shares. The company agreed to complete the pledge of shares with the lender within 30 days from the date that the trading of the shares in the company was completed. Which the company agrees not to sell, transfer or cause any obligation to the pledged shares.
22. Long-term borrowing
	

	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separated

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Long-term borrowing
	1,108,068
	3,144,240
	1,108,068
	3,144,240

	Less Deferred interest expense
	(53,168)
	(199,163)
	(53,168)
	(199,163)

	Net
	1,054,900
	2,945,077
	1,054,900
	2,945,077

	Less Current portion due within one year
	(948,524)
	(1,890,208)
	(948,524)
	(1,890,208)

	Net
	106,376
	1,054,869
	106,376
	1,054,869


23. Provision for employee benefits

An independent actuary carried out an evaluation of the Company’s obligations for employees’ long-term benefits using the projected unit credit method. The Company has provided the provision for employees’ long-term                     benefits as follows:
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separated

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Provision for employee benefits - beginning
	2,653,946
	1,498,125
	2,645,069
	1,498,125

	Employee benefit expenses
	
	
	
	

	Current service cost
	751,950
	1,114,769
	751,950
	1,105,892

	Interest cost
	72,475
	41,052
	72,475
	41,052

	Actuarial (gain) loss
	(1,111,826)
	-
	(1,111,826)
	-

	Less  liability decrease from actual paid
	(294,688)
	-
	(294,688)
	-

	Decreased due to loss of control power
	(8,877)
	-
	-
	-

	Provision for employee benefits - ending
	2,062,980
	2,653,946
	2,062,980
	2,645,069


Significant actuarial assumptions are summarised below.
	
	Consolidated
	Separated

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Discount rate (%)
	2.10
	2.74
	2.10
	2.74

	Future salary increase (%)
	5.00
	5.00
	5.00
	5.00

	Retirement age (years old)
	60
	60
	60
	60


The result of sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions that affect the present value of the long-term employee benefit obligation as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are summarised below:
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	As at December 31, 2018

	
	Consolidated
	Separated

	
	Increase
	Decrease
	Increase
	Decrease

	Discount rate (1.00%)
	(90,235)
	104,864
	(90,235)
	104,864

	Salary increase rate (1.00%)
	87,095
	(76,178)
	87,095
	(76,178)

	Turnover rate (1.00%)
	(93,843)
	40,960
	(93,843)
	40,960


	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	As at December 31, 2017

	
	Consolidated
	Separated

	
	Increase
	Decrease
	Increase
	Decrease

	Discount rate (1.00%)
	(274,857)
	330,671
	(274,857)
	330,671

	Salary increase rate (1.00%)
	361,411
	(304,979)
	361,411
	(304,979)

	Turnover rate (1.00%)
	(287,247)
	159,680
	(287,247)
	159,680


The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in employee benefit obligations as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated.
24. Other non-current liabilities
	
	(Unit : Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separated

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Guarantee received - co-production
	2,830,050
	2,830,050
	2,830,050
	2,830,050


25. Warrants
As of May 26, 2014, warrant to purchase ordinary shares of the Company has been listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand (trading commencement on May 26, 2014) - DCORP-W1 with major characteristics as follows:

Number of Warrants:
Not exceeding 100,000,000 units

Underlying Shares:
Not exceeding 100,000,000 shares

Rights of Warrants:
The holder of warrant certificate has the right to purchase ordinary share of the Company of 1 warrant for 1 new share with the exercise price of Baht 3 per 1 ordinary share (unless the exercise price is adjusted according to the conditions of the rights adjustment) **
Type of Warrants:
Named certificate and transferable

Term of Warrants:
3 years from the issuance date
**
The Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 4/2015 which was held on March 16, 2015, passed the resolutions on the adjustment to the exercise ratio and the exercise price of warrants. The 1 unit of warrant shall be entitled to purchase 1.60 newly issued share. The new exercise price is Baht 1.87 per share. The Company will reserve the capital increase at the amount of 160,059,924 shares.
On May 8, 2017, the last exercise date, the warrant holders of DCORP-W1 exercised 21,433,003 units and the Company received Baht 64,271,642 from the issuance of 34,351,469 shares to the warrant holders. The Company has registered the change in paid-up share capital with the Ministry of Commerce on May 23, 2017. The Company therefore has paid-up capital of Baht 587,407,772.
The outstanding of unexercised warrants (DCORP-W1) was 1,958,934 units. Warrants expired from Listed securities on May 27, 2017.

26. Earnings (loss) per share
Basic earnings (loss) per share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net profit (loss) attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares issued and paid-up during the years.

Diluted earnings (loss) per share
Diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net profit (loss) attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares issued and paid-up during the period adjusted for the effect of conversion of warrant to ordinary share.

	
	For the years ended December 31,

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Diluted earnings (loss) per share (Baht)
	(0.714)
	(0.359)
	(0.830)
	(0.262)

	Weighted average number of ordinary shares (Thousand shares)
	587,408
	574,830
	587,408
	574,830


27. Legal reserve

Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535, the Company is required to set aside to a statutory reserve at least 5 percent of its net income after deducting accumulated deficit brought forward (if any), until the reserve reaches 10 percent of the registered capital. The statutory reserve is not available for dividend distribution.
28. Financial information by segment
The Company and subsidiaries operate business on single geographic segment that is in Thailand. As revenue of other business segments is less than 10% of total revenue, there is no financial information by segment of other business segments presented in the financial statements.
Business unit segment information of the Company and subsidiaries for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, are as follows:
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated

	
	For the year ended December 31, 2018

	
	Income from programme 
co-production
	
	Income from broadcasting rights
	
	Sales income
	
	Total

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Income
	612
	
	-
	
	-
	
	612

	Cost
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Gross profit
	612
	
	-
	
	-
	
	612

	Other incomes
	
	
	
	
	
	
	13,133

	Profit before expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	13,745

	Expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Administrative expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(47,781)

	Allowance for impairment of venture capital
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(29,810)

	Doubtful accounts
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(88,235)

	Loss from impairment of goodwill
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(51,203)

	Loss from impairment of investment in associates
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(107,784)

	Management benefit expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(18,681)

	Finance costs
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(684)

	Share of  loss from associates
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(89,498)

	Total expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(433,676)

	Loss before income tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(419,931)

	Income tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	-

	Net loss
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(419,931)


	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated

	
	For the year ended December 31, 2017

	
	Income from programme 
co-production
	
	Income from broadcasting rights
	
	Sales income
	
	Total

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Income
	26,999
	
	16,709
	
	5
	
	43,713

	Cost
	(7,200)
	
	(15,190)
	
	-
	
	(22,390)

	Gross profit
	19,799
	
	1,519
	
	5
	
	21,323

	Other incomes
	
	
	
	
	
	
	15,335

	Profit before expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	36,658

	Expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Administrative expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(105,227)

	Allowance for impairment of intangible assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(16,870)

	Loss from impairment of goodwill
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(20,731)

	Loss from impairment of investment in associates
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(65,331)

	Management benefit expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(24,064)

	Finance costs
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(411)

	Share of  loss from associates
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(12,997)

	Total expenses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(245,631)

	Loss before income tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(208,973)

	Income tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	-

	Net loss
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(208,973)


29. Financial instruments
29.1
Financial risk management

The Company’s financial instruments, principally comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, investments, and short-term loan. The financial risks associated with these financial instruments and how they are managed is described below:
Credit risk

The Company is exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to receivables from co-production of satellite television programmes and broadcasting rights. However, due to its prudent credit policy and the close follow up of debt, the Company does not anticipate material losses from its debt collection in excess of those for which provision has already been set aside. And trade-accounts receivable of co-production of satellites television programmes had made the collateral.
Interest rate risk

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to its cash at banks. However, since most of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities bear floating interest rates or fixed interest rates which are close to the market rate, the interest rate risk is expected to be minimal.
Foreign currency risk

The Company has no exposure to foreign currency risk because no significant trading transactions are denominated in foreign currencies.

29.2
Fair values of financial instruments

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. The fair value is the price at which an orderly transaction to sell an asset or to transfer a liability would take place between market participants at the measurement date. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods.
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other accounts receivable, short-term loans, other current assets, trade and other accounts payable and other current liabilities is taken to approximate the carrying value.
Fair values and the carrying values of financial assets and liabilities other than the aforementioned were as follows:
	
	(Unit : Million Baht)

	
	Consolidated

	
	Level 1
	Level 2
	Level 3
	Total

	As at December 31, 2018
	
	
	
	

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	

	Other current investments
	
	
	
	

	Open-end fund **
	-
	23.20
	-
	23.20

	
	
	
	
	

	As at December 31, 2017
	
	
	
	

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	

	Other current investments
	
	
	
	

	Open-end fund **
	-
	184.16
	-
	184.16


	
	(Unit : Million Baht)

	
	Separate

	
	Level 1
	Level 2
	Level 3
	Total

	As at December 31, 2018
	
	
	
	

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	

	Other current investments
	
	
	
	

	Open-end fund **
	-
	17.19
	-
	17.19

	
	
	
	
	

	As at December 31, 2017
	
	
	
	

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	

	Other current investments
	
	
	
	

	Open-end fund **
	-
	174.62
	-
	174.62


* Level 2 - The fair value determined by using the net asset value as published by the Asset Management.
30. Agreement
On May 19, 2016, the Company executed 2 memorandums of understanding with Philippines investors in order to engage in the due diligence exercise on 2 companies registered under the laws of the Philippines and engaged in the energy business in the Philippines by acquiring 40 percent of the shares in the 2 companies. On August 11, 2016, the Company paid the security deposit for the land lease for the construction of the solar power plant in the amount of Baht 22.40 million to representatives or authorized persons of the 2 companies as the owners of the land. If the project is not approved by the shareholders of the Company, the lessor shall return the security deposit in full within the period specified by the Company. The payment of such security deposit is approved under the capped amount of Baht 50 million from the meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company held on July 13, 2016.
On January 26, 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the investment in the solar power plants of Negros PH Solar Inc. (NPSI) having the production capacity under the Solar Energy Contract at 50 megawatts, located in the Philippines, by the purchase of 40 percent of the total issued ordinary shares in NPSI, in the total amount of 600,000 million US Dollars. Such investment must also be approved by the shareholders’ meeting with the vote of not less than three-fourth of the total votes. The Company expects that the construction of this power plant project can be completed and commercially able to distribute power within 2017, with the project rate of return at the rate of not less than 15 percent. The Board of Directors considered this to be reasonable and beneficial to the Company and the shareholders. After the parties have fulfilled or waived as per the methods stipulated under the agreement within October 2017 (Revised May 19, 2017) the conditions precedent stipulated in the share purchase agreement, the Company has already made the payment.
Nevertheless, on November 10, 2017, it was informed by the Company that NPSI could not obtain the construction permit for the project and may not provide the progress summary since there was a change in the policy with respect of the process and procedures of approval for the permit by the Department of Energy, the Ministry of Energy of the Philippines. Therefore, the Company had to cancel the investment in the project and the Company recorded the reserve for the security deposit which may not be refunded in the amount of Baht 34.10 million (consisting of the security deposit of the land lease Baht 22.40 million, the operational costs for the acquisition of the construction permit of the project Baht 11.70 million) and wrote-off unrecallable security deposit (expenses for legal advisors, financial advisors, and technical engineering advisors) of Baht 8.63 million. However, the Company has officially given the notice to demand the security deposit for the land lease to the lessor twice and will proceed with legal procedures accordingly.
Later, on December 8, 2017, it was disclosed by the Company that the Company received the deposit for the sale shares in the amount of Baht 21.23 million from the escrow agent, while the security deposit for the land lease of Baht 22.40 million and the operational costs for the acquisition of the construction permit of the project in the amount of Baht 11.70 million, at the total amount of Baht 34.10 million, cannot be recalled.
In the consideration of the Board of Directors for the investment in the solar power plant project of Negros PH Solar Inc. (NPSI) on January 26, 2017, the Board of Directors resolved that the investment in NPSI’s power plant was reasonable by considering the information from technical and commercial inspections, as well as legal due diligence.
For the technical inspection, the Company hired Infratech ASTM Co., Ltd. to conduct field inspection and evaluate the appropriateness of the area for the construction of the solar power plant through the tests of soil strength, the level of the area above the sea level and statistics of disasters, e.g. flood and wind storm in the past. For the construction of the power plant, the Company also prepared to hire a contractor which is a company ranked in the Fortune Global 500 to design and construct the power plant.
In the consideration on the commercial feasibility, due the high competitive in the construction market in Philippines, NPSI has been offered from a contractor to acquire 85 percent of the total funds for the construction of the project with NPSI being responsible for only 15 percent for the initial construction. The Company has further studied and found that other projects in the vicinity have received the same offer from other construction companies. This advantage results in the project rate of return of not less than 15 percent. In this connection, the Company hired Sims Property Consultant Co., Ltd. to evaluate the value of NPSI. From the result of the evaluation of NPSI, the value of 40 percent of NPSI’s shares is Baht 757.20 million. The valuation of the project is the valuation of NPSI when it is fully operated. The valuation assumption includes the initial capital for start up in the amount of Baht 2,353.95 million. The project can immediately produce electricity with the duration of 25 years, and would be granted tax incentive from the government of Philippines, exempted from tax in the first 7 years, and pay corporate income tax at the rate 10 percent in the year of 8-13, and pay corporate income tax at the rate 30 percent in the year of 14-25, with the electricity tariff at 5.70 Baht per unit. Sims Property Consultant Co., Ltd. has evaluated at the discounted cash flow of the future subject to the condition that NPSI has a full capacity of 50 MW for 25 years calculated by the discounted rate at 8 percent.
Nevertheless, due to the investment of the Company was in the early stage of the application for a license to implement the project, the Company, therefore could negotiate for the purchase of 40 percent of shares at the price of 600,000 USD or approximately Baht 21 million. Comparing to the value of NPSI, with full operation, it is considered as reasonable remuneration.
In the part of the legal feasibility, the Company hired DFDL (Thailand) Ltd., which worked with a legal office in the Philippines, to review legal documents and licenses of NPSI. From the result of the review, NPSI was in the process of obtaining main documents, i.e. the construction permit for the project. The Company prescribes a condition for payment in the form of security deposit, whereby the security deposit shall be returned if the conditions precedent are not fulfilled, including the acquisition of the said construction permit by NPSI.
In the meeting of the Board of Directors, the consideration on the conditions and procedures for the acquisition of the construction permit of NPSI was considered and NPSI may obtain the construction permit when the Department of Energy, the Ministry of Energy of the Philippines has considered the application and conditions of the permits performed by NPSI and submitted to the Ministry of Energy. In this respect, the Ministry of Energy will announce the result of the approval of the development and construction of the project on the Ministry of Energy’s website.
Nevertheless, the change of government of the Philippines resulted in the change in policy for the approval of the renewable energy power plant, whereby NPSI’s project is pending for approval and the result of the acquisition of the construction permit of the project is delayed without a specified period.
The Board of Directors approve the payment of the security deposit of Baht 34.10 million before the shareholders approved of the investment in the project.
The Board of Directors has considered the payment of security deposit of Baht 34,102,184.62 because the Company is the new investor in the energy business in the Philippines. Therefore, if the Company acquires shares of the power plant project in such manner at the time when the project is almost to get commercial return, or the project has been granted relevant licenses, the Company expects that the prices of the projects would rise to the higher level, or at the market price of approximately Baht 700 million valued by an independent valuer. Comparing in the aspect of investor confidence, the Company may be more disadvantage than other companies in the market. Therefore, the Company has decided to invest in this project at an early stage which may jointly manage possible risks occurring from the investment in very greenfield stage. As such, the Company has negotiated to purchase 40 percent of shares in the amount of 600,000 USD or approximately Baht 21 million; provided that the Company would be responsible for reservation payment of land of the project.
However, such payment is under the terms for the refund in various conditions including the condition that the project needs the approval from the shareholders. The security deposit is an appropriate amount when comparing to the value of the NPSI when it is fully operated. Further, the security deposit of the land lease, and the operational costs are necessary as follows:
1)
Deposit for the land lease in the amount of Baht 22,398,461.41 which was paid after the preliminary result of due diligence exercise on NPSI.
The Company considered making this part of payment prior to the approval of the shareholders because, for power plant projects in the Philippines, the location of the land for which the power plant is to be located is the material factor in the approval of the project. The reason is the land is one the conditions to get the license to study and explore the power plant project (“Service Contract”) which must not overlap with other projects that have received a Service Contract. Therefore, NPSI was required to precure land in order to receive the Service Contract. Moreover, leasing the land at the beginning of the project will help to manage rental prices to be at the market level and does not let others take an opportunity to take advantage to raise prices if the project is licensed for Service Contract that has been specified the project area. Further, land procurement is considered as high risk because if the Company cannot enter into the land lease agreement according to the location specified in the Service Contract, it will result in an increase in the cost of the operation for new Service Contract application where the project could, in fact, enter into the land lease agreement. The Company, therefore, entered into an agreement to have the possessory right over the land so that NPSI may apply for the right to develop the project without the land procurement risk and for the liquidity of the project at the early stage which is competitive. The Company did not make this payment in proportion to the shareholding percentage because the Philippinos shareholders agreed to be responsible for the procurement of the possessory right over the land while the Company agreed to make the security deposit payment. Eventually when the project can be operated, the security deposit will be deemed as expenses of the project whereby NPSI has the duty to return to the Company in the propotion in which the Company has overly paid.
2)
The payment for the operational costs for the acquisition of the project construction permit in the amount of Baht 11,703,723.21 was made after the consideration of the result from due diligence exercise on NPSI.

The Company considered and made the payment for this sum prior to the approval of the shareholders because, for power plant projects in the Philippines, NPSI must obtain the project construction permit. The Company did not make the payment in proportion to its shareholding because the Filipinos shareholders agreed to be responsible for the acquisition of the project construction permit while the Company agreed to make the payment for the operational costs. Eventually when the project can be operated, the security deposit will be deemed as expenses of NPSI whereby NPSI has the duty to return to the Company in the propotion in which the Company has overly paid.

Moreover, for the 2 investment items in the total amount of Baht 34,102,184.62, the Company paid for such payment on the condition that the Company can demand for a return of the capital investment from NPSI’s shareholders if NPSI may not operate the project and if the shareholders of NPSI refuse to return the security deposit, the Company is entitled to file a suit against NPSI’s shareholders under the conditions stipulated under the agreement.
The names of the shareholders of NPSI and the lessor of the land is MS. MARIA CELIA RAMONA S. MONFORT, a citizen of the Philippines, who has no relationship with the Company in terms of shareholding, director, executive, or related party.
However, the reason that the Philippines shareholder is the lessor is the Company has asked the Philippines shareholder to help to negotiate and to compile land from the owners. The Philippines shareholder does not own the land. Nevertheless, there is a duty to complied land for lease so as to the project can apply for relevant license such as Service Contract or construction licenses, etc.
1.
The deposit of Baht 22,398,461.41 is under the agreement for the Company to place the security deposit for the land reserved in order for NPSI to lease the land at a later date. The conditions for the Company to claim for the refund of the security deposit are as follows:
(1) When the conditions of entering into the project land lease agreement has been fulfilled or waived by the relevant contracting party.
(2) When NPSI may not enter into the project land lease agreement with the land owner.
(3) When the Company is not approved to lease the project land.

Therefore, due to for the cancellation of the Company to invest in NPSI is considered as the disapproval of the lease of the land, the Company received the refund of the capital investment placed as the security deposit. Currently, the payment due date is under the negotiation and the Company expects that the Company will receive the refund within Quarter 3/2018.
2.
For the security deposit for the operational costs for the acquisition of the construction permit, the conditions for the Company to receive the refund are as follows:
(1) 
When the parties may not procure that NPSI obtains the construction permit.
(2) 
When the Company is not approved to proceed with the project.

The cancellation of the investment in NPSI resulted in the Company’s entitlement in the full refund of the security deposit. Currently, the Company is under the negotiation for the counterparty to return the security deposit. In this connection, the counterparty agreed to enter into the agreement to return the security deposit which has the payment period for the total amount within August 15, 2018. At present, the deposit has not yet been paid and the Company is in the process of asking for payment. The deposit has not yet been paid and is currently in the process of prosecution.

If the Company received a refund. The Company will recognize the allowance for reversed damages. And recognized as other income in the statement of income for the period of repayment.
31. Commitments
The Company has entered into building space rental agreement with an unrelated company. The lease term of 3 years expires on November 30, 2020. The rental rate is Baht 174,250 per month.
The Company has entered into service agreements with an unrelated company. The lease term is 3 years. The contract expires on November 30, 2020. The service fee is Baht 139,400 for the first year, Baht 156,825 for the second year and Baht 174,250 for the third year.
32. Expenses by nature

Significant expenses by nature for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, are as follow:
	
	(Unit:Baht)

	
	Consolidated
	Separate

	
	2018
	2017
	2018
	2017

	Fee for the assignor of co-production
	-
	7,200,000
	-
	-

	Depreciation and amortisation expenses
	7,788,843
	24,410,303
	5,256,593
	20,407,888

	Salaries and other employee benefits
	11,624,516
	11,127,675
	11,624,516
	10,203,444

	Professional fees
	9,938,788
	10,812,111
	9,010,388
	9,566,894

	Office rental and service expenses
	3,972,600
	4,310,823
	3,763,800
	3,380,450

	Loss from impairment
	
	
	
	

	Intangible assets
	-
	16,869,981
	-
	16,869,981

	Goodwill
	51,202,950
	20,731,191
	-
	-

	General investment
	-
	-
	51,363,725
	-

	Investment in subsidiaries
	-
	-
	-
	42,560,511

	Investment in associate
	107,783,688
	65,330,845
	200,794,329
	-

	Venture capital
	29,810,506
	-
	29,810,506
	-

	Allowance doubful
	88,234,704
	-
	154,525,362
	-

	Share of loss from associates
	89,497,899
	12,997,397
	-
	-

	Management benefit expenses
	18,680,551
	24,063,542
	18,680,551
	21,899,948


33. Capital management
The primary objectives of the Company’s capital management are to maintain their abilities to continue as a going concern and to maintain an appropriate capital structure.
As at December 31, 2018, debt to equity ratio in the consolidated financial statements is 0.18:1 (Separate: is 0.04:1).
34. Reclassification

Certain reclassifications have been made in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company and its subsidiaries to conform to the classification used in current period's financial statements. Such reclassifications have no effect to previously reported net profit and shareholders’ equity.
35. Financial statements approval
These financial statements have been approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on February 26, 2019.
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